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Message from the chairwoman
of the Board of Directors

2011 was a year in which the global and Vietnamese 
economies have seen numerous challenges and changes. 
Vietnam itself experienced high inflation; stagnate real estate 
market; tightened monetary policy by SBV over credit; interest 
rate control and uncertain gold market. Despite these 
challenges, 2011 was still considered a modestly successful 
year for the Vietnamese economy with GDP growth of 5.89%, 
lower than that of 2010 (6.78%) but higher than that of 2009 
(5.32%), and is still among one of the most vibrant economies 
in Asia. Our medium to long-term economic growth outlook on 
Vietnam is quite positive and we hope to continue to capitalize 
on this growth.

At HDBank, we have basically achieved our business targets 
for 2011, which were set out at the General Shareholders 
Meeting, despite the challenging business environment. We 
executed operations effectively and at the same time ensured 
the sustainable and safe development of the bank. We also 
formally developed a 5-year strategic business plan (2011-
2016) with the aim of becoming a strong financial institution 
and a trusted brand. 2011 was the first year of implementation 
and marked an important milestone for HDBank as we are well 
on our way in executing our strategic business plan. 

The introduction and commercialization of our new brand 
�HDBank� in Vietnam, implemented at the beginning of 2011, 
was a major highlight for this year. Each employee was 

We anticipate that the international and Vietnamese economic 
environment will remain challenging in 2012 especially 
Vietnam's banking sector is expected to experience major 
changes. This is an opportunity for HDBank to not only grow 
but also exhibit our competitive strengths in the market. 

HDBank will continue to make further efforts in executing 
mandates from our 5-year strategic business plan and will 
commit to fulfilling our goals for 2012, in particular: maintaining 
our growth rate; doubling our operations; increasing our capital 
and assets; mobilizing capital in accordance to applicable 
regulations; implementing our comprehensive restructuring 
plan; capitalizing on opportunities; completing our operational 
system improvements; implementing our financial management 
effectively; increasing our asset management capacity; 
expanding our network; increasing our market share and brand 
awareness; developing joint ventures and strategic alliances; 
improving our internal risk management; improving operational 
transparency and building HDBank into an international 
standard bank.     

On behalf of our Board of Directors, Board of Management 
and HDBank staff, I would like to thank all of you, our 
customers, partners, shareholders and State regulatory bodies 
for your support in 2011. We hope that with your continuing 
business and collaboration will propel us in overcoming the 
challenging economic environment and to achieving our goals.    

I wish all of you good health, happiness and success. 

Sincerely,

entrusted as a brand ambassador for the bank and collectively 
accountable for contributing to the newly developed brand. 
Hence, HDBank had a quality makeover both externally and 
internally to further strengthened our customers' trust by 
establishing higher standards and affirming our position in the 
market.   

Moreover, HDBank strategically introduced universal retail 
banking products in accordance with international standards. 
We implemented e-banking and smart card services to meet 
the increasing demands of our customers. In addition, we 
effectively managed our market and credit risk and successfully 
upgraded our IT and centralized data management system. 

Building on our solid foundation and commitment to becoming 
one of the top commercial banks in Vietnam, HDBank has 
consistently exhibited strong financial growth year-over-year 
and 2011 was no exception. In 2011, we earned a profit before 
tax of VND 566 billion, a sharp increase of 61.3% over 2010 
results. On a comparable basis of 2011 to 2010 financial 
performance, our total assets increased by 31.2%, total 
deposits increased by 30.1% and total loans increased by 
18.1% with a minimal NPL ratio of 1.63%. Our branches and 
transaction offices have reached 120 by the end of 2011, an 
increase of 25% over 2010. This is a testament of HDBank's 
continuous quality growth.

Our success up-to-date is attributable to the sound vision of 
our Board of Directors, the leadership of our Board of 
Management and the unyielding commitment and effort of 
more than 2,000 employees. The trust and loyalty of our valued 
customers and the continued support from our business 
partners, shareholders and government agencies have also 
created a favorable business environment for our development.  

In conjunction with the bank's operations, our Board of 
Management was able to maintained quality human resource 
and developed an active and creative corporate culture. 
HDBank has also made significant contributions to the 
community through numerous charitable events and activities.

Dear Customers, Shareholders
and all the staff of HDBank,

“Overcoming the severe effects of world 

economic recession and common difficulties of 

the business environment, HDBank has 

basically fulfilled the business targets, 

ensuring its sustainable development as well 

as safe and efficient operation.”

LE THI BANG TAM
Chairwoman of the Board of Directors



About
HDBank

Vision- mission-core value

Corporate culture

Development orientation

Services and products

10 outstanding events in 2011

Prominent awards 

HDBank always commits best returns to 
customers, partners, shareholders and 
society under the spirit of concern, respect 
and understanding. 
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About HDBank
Vision
Mission
Core value

Vision

Becoming a top financial group in Vietnam with an international network and becoming a brand trusted by Vietnamese customers.

Mission

Providing full range of excellent financial products and services in compliance with international standard to satisfy the diversified 
demands of customers. 

Core value

Our employees: excellent and best efforts

Our organization: Customer-oriented, safe, transparent and effective 

Our partners: Mutual coordination with local and international partners. 

Our community: Willing to share our social and community responsibilities.

About HDBank
Corporate Culture
Development Orientation

Corporate Culture

HD Bank is proud of its effort to build a transparent, humanistic 
and professional working environment.

A dynamic and friendly working environment where the 
relationship between leaders and staff is closely connected by 
person-centered element. Mobility of talent, fair treatment 
policy and development opportunities in favour of all the 
employees.

Developing a dynamic, effective staff to thoroughly 
understandthe products and services of the Bank, ensuring 
professional ethics and considering benefits of the customers 
and the Bank top priority.

Always craving for further knowledge and development.

High responsibility for creating cordiality and 
community�orientation. 

Development Orientation

The development strategy of HDBank is to become a top 
financial group in Vietnam with an international network and a 
trusted brand by Vietnamese customers, and with the promise 
of �Commitment to the best benefits of customers based on 
consideration, respect and understanding of all financial needs�

The success of this strategy depends on the satisfaction, 
loyalty and trust of all the customers, partners and the 
community. Therefore, HDBank's leaders and staffs are 
determined to exert themselves to the utmost for the target:

Building a friendly, thoughtful and effective service: HDBank's 
staffs are friendly, professional, who understand thoroughly the 
products and are willing to serve the customers.

Creating the best products and services, meeting all diverse 
needs of the customers.

Determined and firm management with long-term business 
goals. Being dynamic and flexible in all activities in order to 
bring the best benefits to the customers, partners, 
shareholders and social community.
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About HDBank
Individual Customer Services

In 2011, Retail Banking Division has gained significant 
achievements: total loan balance reached VND6,131 billion, 
equivalent to 44.27% that of HDBank; the balance of individual 
savings accounts reached VND 14,748 billion, equivalent to 
54.77% of total balance from market deposit accounts of 
HDBank. 

Based on the orientation of �Commitment to the best benefits�, 
our staffs will continue to improve and develope distinctive, 
convenient and diversified financial products and services in 
order to maximize benefits for the customers.

Individual Mobilization: Diversified products

HDBank proudly provides productss and services from non-
term savings account to fixed savings account with flexible 
interests payment methods and additional benefits.

HDBank's saving products  accommodate customers plenty 
options which may satisfy their financial requirements. If there 
arises an emergency need of fund, the customers can 
withdraw fund before the due date and still get paid with 
interests accrual based on actual deposit time.

In 2011, HDBank successfully launched various promotion 
programs, e.g. �Billionaire Savings�, �Summer Savings, 
summer fun�, �Happy Tet reunion - filled with fortune�, etc. 
which attracted the attention of many customers.

      

With the purpose of providing more added values, HDBank 
frequently held customer care programs on seasonal holidays, 
Tet holiday, and customers' birthday in order to keep our 
customers updated on the best products.

Furthermore, HDBank has successfully developed and 
launched internal emulation programs encouraging our staffs 
open their own savings accounts, e.g. �Growing  HDBank 
together� and �United  HDBank�

Loans: Preferential interest rates and associated services 

Individual loans have been improved and designed to tailor to 
meet the demand of customers and to reduce risks for 
HDBank. 

  

In particular, we provide wide range of services to satisfy the 
least simple or the most diversified needs of fund. E.g. the 
Installment loan for business purposes, Loan for capital 
contribution, Guarantee of financial capacity for overseas study 
and travel abroad, Inbound and outbound remittance, foreign 
exchange service, credit card issuance, funding services for 
financial status guarantee, etc., will meet all the customers' 
basic and diversified financial needs.

EBanking: easy, safe and convenient

After nearly 3 years of development, Ebanking service of 
HDBank has developed with outstanding advantages. Besides 
some basic advantages, such as account inquiry, bank 
statement, wire transfer�, the customers can access Top-up 
service, bill settlement, air ticket payment and wire transfer. 

In the near future, HDBank will develop more functions of 
eBanking, such as online time deposits, expansion of interbank 
wire transfer channels and other online payment services, etc.

HDBank is proud to be a reliable option which satisfies the 
need of high-tech ,prompt, secured and safe services.

Collection: Bring the bank to your home

The year of 2011 is the milestone of collection service, 
remarkably with the outgrown turnover of collection of 
electricity bills and air ticket fares.

Being engaged in the service of collection, customers can 
effortlessly settle payments for their bills.

Overseas remittance services: Fast, Safe, and Convenient

HDBank provides customers with overseas outward remittance 
and inward remittance from overseas in a fast, safe, and 

convenient manner via Society for Worldwide Interbank 
Financial Telecommunication (SWIFT) and the world-class 
express money transfer system of Western Union.  

It can be affirmed that the implementation and promotion of 
our services, especially the overseas remittance services, have 
contributed significantly to the business results of HDBank. In 
2012, HDBank will continue to expand its networks and 
provide more overseas remittance services to promptly satisfy 
all customers' needs.

Card products: Keep increasing the utilities 

HDBank increasingly focuses on service development, 
especially on the utilities accompanied with bank cards.

Bankcards are not only cash-withdrawal tools but also multi-
utility tools helping the cardholders approach plenty transaction 
services.

By the end of 2011, HDBank has implemented 6 bankcard 
products, including: HDCard (smart card), GiftCard, 
MasterCard, student connection card, SecuritiesCard, special 
cards for VIP customers (Platinum card, Diamond Card, Gold 
card). In 11/2011, HDBank also developed its own POS 
system and built connections with all the banks within 
Smartlink, VNBC and Banknetvn alliances. Thanks to this, 
HDBank cardholders can make transactions at more than 
30.000 POS nationwide.

Particularly, in 2011, HDBank commenced issuing MasterCard 
and joined the Visa International Association. This premise 
helps HDBank prepare for the launching of further international 
cards' utilities and products in 2012.

“In 2011, Retail Banking Division has gained 

significant achievements: total loan balance 

reached VND6,131 billion, equivalent to 

44.27% that of HDBank; the balance of 

individual savings accounts reached VND 

14,748 billion, equivalent to 54.77% of total 

balance from market deposit accounts of 

HDBank.”
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With the motto of bringing maximum benefits to customers, Corporate 
Banking Division has constantly researched to develop new services 
and products successfully which focus on the product diversification 
and target customers. New services and products are developed to 
meet the demands of small and medium enterprises, import-export 
enterprises, especially those enterprises operating in agriculture, 
forestry and fishery export. Services and products for Corporate 
Customers are flexibly and properly designed based on modern 
technology, high level safety and security.

Credit products: Flexible, professional

Credit products in 2011 are aimed at the flexibility of collaterals, 
repayment methods and exclusively designed for specific industries.

HDBank has flexible requirement on collaterals. Collaterals for the 
working capital loans, medium � long-term loans (project investment, 
automobile or equipment loans) can be real estate, receivables, debt 
claims, goods generated from loans, properties generated in the 
future ( project investment�).

Import-export enterprises will be statisfied with Letter of credit, pre 
and post export/import financing loan, and discount (on bills of 
exchange) with the rate up to 98%.

Business installment loan is a financial solution for the frequent needs 
of working capital of the enterprises. Loan for production of and 
trading in cashew nuts, coffee, cassava and rice is the spotlight for 
those operating in these industries. The specific characteristics of 
each industry are satisfied upon the approach of the customers to the 
Bank's loan products.

Mobilization and Services: Committed to the best returns

Capital mobilization products are developed comprehensively with 

About HDBank
Corporate Banking

demand deposits: flexible and progressive deposit accounts that 
improve the customer's benefits. Flexible time deposits with many 
tenors ( 1 week, 2 weeks, 3 weeks, 1 month, 3 months, 6 months, 9 
months�). Besides, HDBank also offers other utilities which meet the 
customers' requirements, including deposit accounts - interest paid 
immediately, time deposits � flexible capital withdrawal, automatically 
accumulated deposit accounts and other short-time deposit 
certificates.

Centralized deposit account management is one of the effective 
solutions helping the enterprises operating in multi-industries or having 
many branches and subsidiaries to effectively manage their cash flow. 
The enterprises can rely on HDBank's staffs and network in collecting 
and paying cash, salary or commission. Such services not only help 
the enterprises to save their expenses and labor but it is safer for cash 
transaction as well. 

Cash Management is an outstanding service of HDBank which helps 
the enterprises to effectively manage their cash inflows and outflows 
the those for payment and investment with lowest expenses and 
fastest transaction. The enterprises can have HDBank's staffs 
proceed collection or payment on their behalves within HDBank's 
transaction networks. Besides, with modern banking technology, the 
enterprises can easily track and manage their accounts. During the 
period of cash flow deficit, the Bank will offers the enterprises with the 
best solutions thanks to its understanding of the business capacity.

PACKAGE FINANCIAL SOLUTION 

HDBank has entered into comprehensive cooperation and investment 
sponsorship with big and prestigious enterprises in order to provide 
full packages of banking products, including financial consultancy, 
credit, international payment, collection and payment, centralized 
account management� 

The products of credit, mobilization and services are the effective 
supports to the enterprises in 2011. HDBank has positively 
accompanied with Vietnamese enterprises, reflecting its commitment 
to the best benefits of customers and contributing to the economic 
development.

BOX: Services and products for Corporate Customers are flexibly and 
properly designed based on modern technology, high level safety and 
security

“Services and products for Corporate 

Customers are flexibly and properly designed 

based on modern technology, high level safety 

and security.”
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Prominent Awards

Ranked A by the State Bank of Vietnam

Emulation flag given by the State Bank of Vietnam 

�Best Cash Management� conferred by Asia Money

�Excellent Annual Report� � Vision Awards 2012 conferred by League of American Communications Professionals (LACP)

�Outstanding International Payment� by Citi Group

�High Straight-Through Rate for Payment Processing� by Wells Fargo

Top 500 Vietnamese fastest growing enterprises

Top 500 Vietnamese largest enterprises 

The Best Savings Bank conferred by VN Economy
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1. Visit of Former President Nguyen Minh Triet to HDBank

In early 2011, Former President Nguyen Minh Triet spent his visit and sent his best 
wishes to HDBank Executive Board and all its staff on Tet Holiday. The efforts and 
the achievements that the Bank had been made were highly evaluated by the 
Former President. Madam Nguyen Thi Hong � Vice Chairwoman of HCMC People's 
Committee and Mr. Nguyen Hoang Minh � Deputy Director of the State Bank of 
Vietnam, Ho Chi Minh Branch were also engaged in the visit. 

About HDBank
10 Outstanding Events in 2011
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2. International awards gained

HDBank was honored to receive many prestigious and major international awards, 
namely �Best cash management in Vietnam� conferred by Asia Money, �Excellent 
annual report� conferred by League of American Communications Professionals 
(LACP), �Outstanding International Payment� by Citi Group, �High Straight-Through 
Rate for Payment Processing� by Wells Fargo and other awards on service and 
product quality.

3. Best results to date

HDBank has achieved many positive outcomes: Pre-tax profit reached VND 566 
billion, 61.3 % higher than the previous year. Total assets reached VND 45,114 
billion, 29.7% higher than the previous year . Capital mobilization reached VND 
39,684 billion, 28,5% higher than the previous year . Total balance was VND 13,848 
billion, 18.1 % higher than the previous year. Bad debt ratio was 1.63 %.

4. Charter capital increasing up to VND 5,000 billion

In 2011, HDBank was allowed to increase its charter capital up to VND 5,000 billion 
by the State Bank of Vietnam and the State Securities Commission. HDBank will 
work to finish all relevant procedures in 2012. 

5. New spacious Head Office

In June 2011, the head office of HDBank was moved to HDBuilding, locating in the 
dynamic financial center of Ho Chi Minh City, at 25bis Nguyen Thi Minh Khai Street, 
Ben Nghe Ward, District 1, HCMC. The building was equipped with modern 
infrastructure and elegant interior and exterior decorations, providing a comfortable 
and convenient transaction place for the customers, and creating a modern but 
friendly working environment for the staff.

6. The General Meeting of Shareholders ratifying the change of its name to �HCMC 
Development Joint-Stock Commercial Bank�

From 16 March 2012, �HCMC Housing Development Joint-Stock Commercial Bank� 
has been officially changed to �HCMC Development Joint-Stock Commercial Bank� 
and released a nationwide new trademark recognition system. The abbreviation of 
�HDBank� remained unchanged. That changing name is suitable for the position and 
business lines of HDBank at the present time as well as new transforming 
development strategy in the future.

7. Developing the most effective products and services

Products for Individuals, especially savings and promotion programs, are always 
creative and innovative in order to bring the best benefits to the customers. Products 
for Corporate Customers are always flexibly improved in order to provide suitable 
and exclusive products to all industries, financial support to small and medium 
enterprises, and participate actively in key projects launched by the Government.

8. Organizing singing contest, sport games, and quiz contest in the system

The first-organized nationwide sport games attracted more than 250 participants 
who were working within the system of HDBank. The singing contest also had a 
great number of participants with more than 56 performances of 34 units. Quiz 
contest has increasingly improved its professional quality. These traditional events 
are held every year to create a mutual playground to connect all HDBank's staff. 

9. Implementing trademark synchronization in the whole system

With support of the International Consulting Company, HDBank has developed a 
new trademark strategy in the whole system. Each employee is a �brand 
ambassador� introducing the new image of HDBank: Dynamic � Friendly - Effective. 
HDBank has also successfully developed and implemented the interior and exterior 
design based on international standards. 

10. Accompanied with �The international chess tournament�

 �HDBank International Chess Tournament 2012� has been the biggest international 
open tournament in Vietnam up to now. The tournament attracted 93 players from 
14 countries, including more than 48 local players and 45 international players. It 
saw new breakthroughs in professional quality, the number of participants, improved 
organizing work, and prize structure with international standard. The 2012 
Tournament recognized outstanding achievements of top players, especially in the 
race for leading positions of the top players from Vietnam, the Philippines and China. 
Some players, after the tournament, have earned 10-15 for their Elo rating points.



Organizational
Structure

Organizational structure

Shareholder and investor relations

Report of the Board of Directors

Report of Supervisory Board

HDBank builds trust and tightens up 
relationship with customers, partners 
based on long-term vision  and family-
like concerns
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Banking Management
Organizational Structure

B
A

N
K

IN
G

 M
A

N
A

G
E

M
E

N
T



18 HDBank Annual Report 2011 19HDBank Annual Report 2011

Ms. Le Thi Bang Tam � Chairwoman

She is excellent in financial and national budget management, 
especially in external financial affairs. As the leader of HDBank, 
she has made significant contributions to achievements and  
development strategies of the Bank so far.

She used to be the Department Director and General Director 
of the Central State Treasury � Ministry of Finance, Deputy 
Minister and member of the Party Cadre Board of the Ministry 
of Finance and Chairwoman of the State Capital Investment 
Corporation (SCIC).

She graduated from an Advanced Economic Management 
course in the Soviet Union and holds a PHD's degree in Credit 
Finance, and International Finance Certificate from North 
University London.

Ms. Nguyen Thi Phuong Thao � Standing Vice � Chairwoman

She has many years of working experience in business sector 
in Vietnam and foreign countries, especially in Banking and 
Finance. She not only participated in the Management Board of 
some overseas banks, but also founded and managed a 
number of banks in Vietnam.

As the Standing Vice-Chairwoman of HDBank, she has carried 
out many reforms, contributing to the Bank's growth and 
sustainable development. Besides effectively running the 
business, she has actively participated in educational, social 
and charitable organizations with a purpose of connecting 
communities.

She holds a PHD's degree in Economic Cybernetics from the 
Mendeleev Institute, a BA's degree in Credit-Finance from the 
Moscow Commerce Institute, a BA's degree in Labor 
Economic Management from the Moscow National Economics 

College. She is also a founding member of the System 
Research Academy of the Russian Federation.

Mr. Nguyen Huu Thanh � Vice-Chairman 

He has many years of experience in the administration and 
management of State corporations. He previously served as 
the Chairman of the Board of Directors of HDBank in several 
years. Currently, he served as a Vice Chairman of BOD. With a 
strategic vision, he has joined other members of the Board and 
the Executive Board in seeking new opportunities, planning an 
effective business strategies and turning challenges into 
development opportunities.

He holds a Bachelor's degree in Law, Construction 
Engineering and Advanced Politics.

Mr. Luu Duc Khanh � Vice Chairman

He is an expert in Banking and Finance sector. Being a 
Member of HDBank's BOD, he has carried out many strategic 
orientations for the business activities, risk management and 
technology in order to develop HDBank to become a modern 
bank with international standards. 

He held many important positions at HSBC, Techcombank, 
ABBank� and contributed to their sustainable success in 
Vietnam market.

He holds a Bachelor's degree from the Lvov Poli-technical 
College (the Soviet Union), a Bachelor's degree in Economics 
from HCMC University of Economics and a MBA's degree from 
New England University (Australia).

Mr. Nguyen Huu Dang � Board Member and General Director

He has been working in HDBank for 10 years. With many years 
of experience in banking sector, he often has new strategies, 
which bring practical results to the development of HDBank.

He used to serve as an official managing non-State credit 
institutions and credit and worked at the State Bank of Vietnam 
(Dong Thap Province), as well as Vietnam Bank for Industry 
and Trade (VietinBank).

He holds a BA's degree in Banking

Mr. Luu Van Son � Board Member

He has vast experience in trade, import-export, and foreign 
relations inside and outside Vietnam. With the ability to seek for 
and seize new business opportunities, he is expected to bring 
new achievements to HDBank, which are recognized as an 
outstanding progress in the system of Commercial Banks in 
Vietnam.

He has many years of management experience for HCMC 
SOVICO ZAO, Viet Nam Electronics Export-Import Joint-stock 
Company, SGS Rubber Investment Joint-stock Company and 
Saigon-Phu Quoc Sovico Joint-stock Company

He holds a Bachelor's degree in Business Administration.

Mr. Nguyen Huu Dang � Board Member and General Director

He has been working in HDBank for 10 years. With many years 
of experience in banking sector, he often has new strategies, 
which bring practical results to the development of HDBank.

He used to serve as an official managing non-State credit 
institutions and credit and worked at the State Bank of Vietnam 
(Dong Thap Province), as well as Vietnam Bank for Industry 
and Trade (VietinBank).

Banking Management
Board of Directors

He holds a BA's degree in Banking

Ms. Do Thi Hong Dung � Board Member

She has many years working in Finance-Banking sector. She 
has served many positions at HDBank, including Manager of 
Credit Department, Deputy General Director, and General 
Director of HDBank. She has made significant contributions to 
the development of HDBank. She currently serves as a Board 
Member in charge of human resource training and 
development.

She also worked as an official at the State Bank of Vietnam; a 
fellow at National Finance Institute of Russian Federation

She holds a BA's degree in Law and a PHD's degree in Credit 
and Finance.

Mr Diep Dung � Board Member

He has vast experience in construction, industry, banking and 
finance. As a Board Member, he has brought new 
opportunities to HDBank and supported HDBank's business. 
He also joins with the Board to map out specific steps in order 
to achieve the best results.

H held many management positions in Tan Thuan EP Zone 
Construction and Business Joint- Venture Company, Tan 
Thuan Industrial Development Company and Ho Chi Minh City 
State Finance Investment Company. 

 He holds a MA's degree in Corporate Finance and Advanced 
Politics.
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1. Mr Dao Duy Tuong � Chief of Supervisory Board

He has 15 years of working experience in Account-Finance sector. Being 
dynamic and professional, he plays an important role in supervising all business 
operation, ensuring safe and effective operation in accordance with the 
requirements of HDBank and the SBV.

He has worked in the Supervisory Board since 2010. He used to work as a 
Chief Accountant of Song Hong Company � Ministry of Defence, Phu An 
Infrastructure Development and Construction Company, Song Viet Investment 
Joint Stock Company.

He holds a Bachelor's degree in Accounting.

2. Ms. Nguyen Thi Phung � Member of the Supervisory Board

She has 17 years of experience in Banking-Finance sector. She has made 
positive contributions to the development of HDBank so far.

She has joined HDBank since 2003 as the Controller and Internal Auditor. Since 
2008, she has served as a Member of the Supervisory Board at HDBank.

She holds a Bachelor's degree in Credit and Monetary.

3. Mr To Xuan Thanh � Member of the Supervisory Board

He has held many important management positions and has vast experience in 
Banking-Finance sector. With his outstanding achievements, he has been 
conferred with �Emulation Fighter� title of the branch level and has received the 
Certificate of Merit awarded by the Prime Minister. He has been a Member of 
the Supervisory Board since 2010, being responsible for managing the 
operation of all HDBank's branches in the North of Vietnam. He previously held 
many management positions at Vietnam Development Bank, Au Viet Securities 
Company and NOBLECAPITAL Investment Joint-stock Company.

He holds a PHD's degree in Economics/ Master's degree in Banking and 
Finance from MEBF (France).

Banking Management
Board of Supervisory

Mr. Nguyen Huu Dang � Board Member of BOD and General Director  (See in Board of Directors)

and 6 Deputy General Directors, Chief Financial Officer and Human Resource Director.

Banking Management
Board of Directors
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I. Overview of 2011 operation
In 2011, the global economic recovery still has to face with 
many difficulties and challenges. This is due to a number of 
reasons, including high inflation, especially in developing and 
emerging countries; public debt crisis in some developed 
countries, political crisis in some countries in the Middle East 
and North Africa; earthquake and tsunami in Japan. On the 
other hand, the increase in the global trade is partly resulted 
from the increase in prices of goods. In this situation, since the 
end of 2010, many central banks around the world have 
implemented tightening policies by raising the interest rates 
and required reserve ratios.
The economic situation in Vietnam is unavoidably affected by 
the global economy. In 2011, Vietnam has to face with many 
challenges and difficulties: (i) High inflation and trade deficit; (ii) 
stock market decline and complicated real estate market; (iii) 
decline in FDI; (iv) high interest rates (resulted from high 
inflation) affecting business operation and productions.  The 
Government, on 24th Feb, 2011, issued Resolution No. 
11/NQ-CP on 6 key solutions for controlling the inflation, 
stabilizing the macro-economy and securing social welfare.
In order to cope up with this inflation, the State Bank of 
Vietnam has applied tight monetary policy, including increasing 
the refinancing interest rate from 9% to 12%, exercising strict 
control over the gold trading and foreign exchange market, 
controlling the credit growth at less than 20%... However, 
because of some long-term and implicit shortcomings in , 
economic policy and weak financial and banking system and 
structure, the economic situation in the end of 2011 is still 
uncertain. In particular, increasing bad debt and weak liquidity 
have given a warning for the banking system.        
In that situation, although the business's condidions still have 
many problems, the business result of HDBank is relatively 
satisfactory with almost 100% of the tasked assigned by the 
General Meeting of Shareholders being completed thanks to 
the unanimous determination of   HDBank's staffs, strong 
direction of the BOD and the Executive Board. 

II. Assessment of the BOD on the implementation of the 
Resolutions issued by 2010 General Meeting of Shareholders 
On the basis of performance targets in 2010 Shareholder 
resolutions, HDBank's BOD has joined together to work out 
main orientations for the construction of the Bank's 
comprehensive strategy. Accordingly, the BOD has clarified 
basic contents of the development strategy, including:

i. Developing a business strategic plan

ii. Comprehensively restruturing the operational and 
organizational model

iii. Developing effective financial administration model

iv. Developing risk management infrastruture

v. Developing brand strategy

vi. Developing joint-venture and alliance strategy

vii. Developing strategy to expand distribution channels

viii. Managing and developing human resources 

ix. Developing banking technology strategy  

HDBank has achieved positive results in the context of 
macroeconomic challenges

- Basic business targets: 

+  Profit before tax (exclusive of the amount attributable to 
any allowance/provision) reached VND 566 billion, 
accomplishing 94.3 % of the tasks assigned by the General 
Meeting of Shareholders, increasing to 61.3 % ( equivalent 
to VND 215 billion) as compared to that of 2010.

+ Total assets reached VND 45,114 billion, accomplishing 
93% of the tasks assigned by the General Meeting of 
Shareholders, increasing to 29.7 % ( equivalent to VND 
10,725  billion) as compared to that of 2010.

+ Total mobilized capital reached VND 39,684  billion, 
accomplishing 94.5% of the tasks assigned by the General 
Meeting of Shareholders, increasing to 28.5% ( equivalent 
to VND 9,190  billion) as compared to that of 2010.

+ Total outstanding balance reached VND 13,848 13,848 
billion, accomplishing 98.8% of the tasks assigned by the 
General Meeting of Shareholders, increasing to 18.1% ( 
equivalent to VND 2,120billion) as compared to that of 
2010.

Banking Management
Report of the Board of Directors

information network such as website, announcements and 
direct reports.

- Establishing relationship with potential investors through the 
events, meetings and other senior match-making sessions.

- Fully and promptly providing the shareholders and the BOD 
with financial and non-financial information in accordance with 
the Vietnamese law and updating legal changes which may 
have impact to the bank's operation.

These abovementioned activities of HDBank have gained the 
attention, trust and long-term loyalty of the investors towards 
the Bank's leading board. Valuable support of the shareholders 
has made significant contributions to the Bank's positive 
business results in 2011 and has become an indefensible 
factor of the stable development of HDBank. 

Understanding the importance and contributions of the 
investors in the bank's development, HDBank in 2011 
determined that relationship with the investors is among the 
key missions.

Completing the 2011 charter capital raising plan of which the 
value is up to VND 5,000 billion in 2012.

Changing its current name to �HCMC Development Joint Stock 
Commercial Bank�

Implementing the five-year action plan of HDBank, including 
the implementation of 2011-2016 business strategic project 
and 2011-2016 IT strategic project.

- Implementing the bank restructuring project

- Developing and finalizing HDBank brand strategy.

- Implementing risk management and building internal 
administration system.

- Strengthening the modernization of banking technology, 
connecting the development of - IT system with the 
creation of superior products and improving the application 
of 

- Information Technology to the system management and 
operation to the highest level.

- Intensifying brand development and expanding 
operational network nationwide.

- Improving HR management, shareholders management 
and information disclosure. 

      

Shareholder relations unit has positively implemented the most 
beneficial activities in favour of the investors, including:

Fulfilling the obligations committed with the shareholders, and 
assisting the shareholders in implementing their related rights. 

- Coordinating with other functional departments in order to 
promptly collect and provide full and accurate information to 
the shareholders and the BOD to serve as a foundation for 
HDBank's sustainable development strategies.

- Keeping in touch with the shareholders not only through the 
Genera, Meeting of Shareholders but also through other 

Shareholder and Investor Relations
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In 2011, the internal audit of the Bank was strictly monitored by 
the Supervisory Board. Accordingly, the Supervisory Board 
instructed the implementation of �risk-based orientation� audit 
method, giving priority to save the resources for auditing such 
departments, units and procedures which were rated highly-
risky. Internal audit plan was based on risk evaluation result 
and was updated, modified and adjusted in order to be 
consistent with the happenings and changes to the operation 
of HDBank and to the attached risks as well. 

Internal audit team, under the Supervisory Board's direction, 
have audited all the operation, professional procedures, and 
most of the departments and units of HDBank. Specifically:

- Auditing 80% of the departments of HDBank, inspecting 
more than 70% of the documents and financial certificates of 
almost all operational sectors.

- Most of key risks were found out; mistakes and remedies 
were timely and fully reported. 

 In 2011, the Supervisory Board participated in all the meetings 
held by the Board of Directors. Thereby:

- The Supervisory Board have proposed many 
recommendations and solutions relating to the completion of 
regulations, professional process, organizational structure, 
management information system and risk measuring and 
controlling tools such as limits, norms, devolvement and 
decentralization.

- The Supervisory Board also gave advices to the BOD toward 
the issuance of Decisions and Resolutions that instructed the 
Management Board to implement proper policies and business 
decisions timely.      

The Supervisory Board also gave instructions to upgrade the 
operation quality of the internal audit system, to enrich the 
audit team with experienced, well-trained, qualified and 
righteous auditors. Specifically, the number of auditors in 2011 
was increased to 30% compared to that of 2010. Internal audit 
team was carefully recruited, well trained and continuously 
updated in order to ensure its independence, objectivity and 
professionalism.       

The Supervisory Board also instructed the internal audit section 
to  conduct independent and objective inspection, check and 
evaluation of the internal control and inspection system, risk 
identification and management system, capital evaluation 
measure, management  information and financial statement 
information system, internal regulations and procedures of the 
Bank. The BOD and General Director are periodically informed 
by the Supervisory Board about the internal supervision and 
inspection system, and proposals and recommendations are 
also submitted by such Board to adjust and complete the 
system.         

Based on the above mentioned factors, in 2011, HDBank 
strengthened its internal supervision section by intensifying the 
role of internal supervisors, ensuring all the transactions to be 
processed by at least 2 persons: operator and supervisor. The 
checking processes were carried out in every step of the 
operation, i.e. before, during and after conducting any 
transaction.

Banking Management
Report of the Board of Supervisory
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divesified products/services as well as 
a wide range of utilities based on 
modern technology standard as to 
best meet customers' demands.
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Despite difficulties in the macro-economy, high inflation, credit 
crunch�, pre-tax profit of HDBank reached VND 566 billion, 
increasing to 61% compared to such of the end of 2010, and 
accomplishing 94.3% compared to the plan passed by the 
General Meeting of Shareholders.   

Net profit reached VND427 billion.

Charter capital of HDBank was VND3,000 billion. Total assets 
reached VND45,107 billion, accomplishing 93% of the 2011 
plan passed by the General Meeting of Shareholders, 
increasing to 29.7% (equivalent to VND10,636 billion) 
compared to that of 2010.

The business result of HDBank in the past year is satisfactory despite all difficulties and challenges, specifically:  

TARGETS PLAN OF 2011 % COMPARED
TO THE PLAN

ARCHIVED
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CAPITAL MOBILIZATION

By the end of 2011, VND39,684 billion 
of capital was mobilized, reaching 
94.5% of the plan passed by the 
General Meeting of Shareholders, 
increasing to 28.5% (equivalent to 
VND9,190 billion ) compared to that of 
2010. In which:

Capital mobilized from economic 
organizations was VND12,180 billion, 
from individuals was VND14,749 billion, 
and from Credit Institutions was VND 
12,755 billion.   
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CREDIT ACTIVITIES

Credit activites of HDBank in the past year 
achieved satisfactory result despite the credit 
crunch. As of 31 December 2011, the total 
balance was VND13,848 billion, increasing to 
18.08% compared to that of 2010 and 
reaching 99% of the 2011 plan.
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Trading in money market continued to be the key and 
profitable activities of HDBank in 2011. Activities such as 
interbank market trading, foreign exchange, gold trading 
continued growing and increasing sales.

Specific result of the monetary activities in 2011 is as follows: 
Profit from treasury division contributing about 40% of pre-tax 
profit of the Bank; Well balanced sources of finance and fund 
utilization, assurance of the liquidity and solvency; improved 
prestige and position of HDBank in the market. It can be said 
that 2011 is a successful year of HDBank in managing and 
ensuring the liquidity at any time despite complicated 
happenings in the currency markets.

HDBank has diversified trading strategy , maximized use of idle 
funds, developed and implemented currency trading products, 
gradually put into practice the derivatives.

The Bank during the year also promoted the relationship with 
partners in the money market, performed bi-directional 
transactions (deposit and withdrawal) with partners in the 
market, enhanced foreign currency and gold trading to 
facilitate the attraction of customers of th international payment 
service.

Adopting flexible methods in business capital conversion, 
effective utilization of mobilized fund; effectively developing and 
mobilizing funds and assets; boosting transactional activity in 
the currency market to regulate the liquidity and efficiently use 

of assets.

Promptly updating market information, taking most advantages 
of currency trading opportunities.

Professional process of currency trading has been fully and 
consistently built in a modern manner and allowing efficient risk 
management while ensuring good conditions for business 
development.

Main target of currency trading in 2012 is as follows: 
- Deposits at other banks: VND 9,090 billion, accounting for 
20.2% of total assets.

- Investment in government bonds: VND 2,500 billion, 
accounting for 5.6%

of total assets. 

- Investments in bonds of other credit institutions: VND 400 
billion, accounting for 1% of total assets.

- Investment in debentures / Certificate of Deposit (CD) of 
credit institutions: VND 3,400 billion.

- Deposits of other credit institutions: VND 11,685 billion, 
accounting for 26% of total liabilities and 30% of raising capital. 

- Loans from the State Bank via open market: VND 750 billion. 
- Foreign exchange turnovers: approximately USD 1 billion. 

2011 Operational Report
Monetary Activities

Identifying that 2011 is an unfavorable year for Vietnam stock 
market, HDBank has decided not to focus on the securities 
investment but on investment to debt securities.

 The total investment value of equity securities as of 31 
December 2011 was VND 607 billion, less than VND 96.9 
billion compared to that in early 2011, in which:

· The value of repo reducing VND140 billion 

· The value of long-term investment and trading 
securities increasing approximately VND 43 billion, primarily by 
increase additional shares  those companies that the bank has 
already invested.

 Total investment value of government bonds as of 31 
December 2011 was VND 2,570 billion, increasing 
approximately VND 360 billion and equivalent to 16% more 
than that in early 2011. 

Total investment value of government bonds remained at the 
rate of approximately 5.6% of total assets.

In general, the financial investment activities of HDBank in 2011 
did not obtain significant changes as the Bank only focused on 
the efficient management and development of the investment 
portfolio available since 2010.

Financial Invesment
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The risk management system of HDBank is being built and 
developed in accordance with the requirements of the State 
Bank of Vietnam and international standards, ensuring full and 
comprehensive control of risks relating to credit, market, 
liquidity and operation. In 2011, the risk management was 
focused to complete in every aspect.

Organizational structure

HDBank keeps on performing and completing the 
organizational re-structure based on its operational model 
which is allocated in 3 flows: sales (Front), control (Middle), and 
support (Back) aimed at promoting professional nature, 
efficiency and independence of every professional division and 
department.

In addition, the functional units and sections of the risk 
management apparatus: Risk Management Committee, Assets 
and Liabilities Commitee (ALCO), Credit Committee, and 
professional Departments of the Division of  Risk Management 
and Observance Control have been established for prompt 
operation in conformity to the new operational model. 

System of regulations, limits and safety indeces 

HDBank has continuously built and completed the system of 
regulations which are held under 3 levels: 

Regulation (enacted by the Board of Directors, formulating 
general orientations and policies), Policy and Instructions / 
Products (enacted by the General Director, properly 
implemented from time to time), including all professional 
qualifications in order to standardize the operation and ensure 
the safety of the Bank. 

Moreover, the Bank also conducts the establishment and 
frequent adjustment of limits relating to credit, currency trading, 
investment operation� and Key Risk Indicators (KRI) relating 

to the liquidity, the balance of assests and liabilities in 
compliance with the State Bank regulations and operational 
characters of HDBank. 

Supervising, controlling, inspecting system 

This activity is most paid attention by the Bank, as it is the 
foundation for discovering, giving warning of, and preventing 
any risk. 

This system is operated by many methods at the same time: 
connecting automatically to the IT system, periodically (daily, 
monthly) implemented by the full-time Supervisory Board, or at 
each arisen transaction.

Reports of actual supervising and inspecting results shall be 
sent to the Board of Directors and the Excutive Board together 
with relevant specific data, analysis, wanring and proposal for 
proper and timely treatment. 

Credit Risk Management 

HDBank has established a complete and thorough credit 
granting system from the Head Office to every trading unit 
including all the componants of all sections: sales, appraisal, 
approval, disbursement, debt collection. 

Credit granting process is applied on an independent principle 
from the proposal - appraisal/valuation � approval, in which 
each action and responsibility of each participating object must 
be expressly specified. Moreover, the system has strict 
procedures on credit granting and secured property. HDBank 
also sets up the limits of loan structure based on the industry, 
purpose, type of secured property � in order to restrict any 
centralized risk. 

HDBank has built successfully a credit rating system applicable 
to individual/corperate customers, credit organizations 
(consulted by Ernst & Young) and submitted the same to the 

2011 Operational Report
Risk Management

State Bank for official applicability since 2011, which is an 
important basis in the course of credit granting consideration, 
debt classification and provisions.

In 2011 the economic situation continued to face difficulties, 
which affected the customers' repayment capacity and leading 
to the increase in NPL in the entire banking system. HDBank 
established an Outstanding NPL managing board which helps 
to prevent the increase in NPL and promptly settle NPL (the 
bad debt ratio as of Dec 31st , 2011 was 1.63% which was 
rather low compared to the industry's average level)

Liquidity, market, and operational risk management 

The Market and Liquidity Risk Management Section in the year 
frequently supervised, gave warning on limits of foreign 
currency trading, debt and capital securities investment. 
Liquidity and operational indices in accordance with the 
regulations of the State Bank (Circular 13) are always secured. 

The Bank has gradually applied the Value at Risk (VAR) for 
foreign currency trading (as per consultancy of the project 
expert of JICA � the State Bank) in order to predict the 
maximum rate of loss and will implement the same to other 
similar activities. 

The Operational Risk Management Section being managed by 
the Risk Management Department and established within the 
year has been gradually building, implementing the regulations 
and limits to minimize the risks with respect to the people, 
system, regulation/ product and external impact.
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In 2011, payment service contributed to the revenue of 
HDbank over VND 21,402 billions via nearly 197,000 inbound 
and outbound payment transactions. The turnover growth with 
respect to the payment and treasury services reached 163% in 
comparison with the same of 2010.

Following with the trends toward the growing integration of 
global economy and financial sector, HDBank more focused on 
providing customers with advanced, fast, safe, secured and 
convenient payment services.  

The year 2011 saw another successful year of HDBank in 
providing the non-cash payment service via telling accounts 
and HDCard accounts. Using online payment service, 
customers can pay daily expenses without going to the bank. 
Accordingly, customers have plenty options to conduct their 
transactions: money remittance via SMSBanking or money 
transfer via Mobile Banking. For those who frequently use 
computer, the utility of payment via eBanking would meet their 
diversified demands. At present, HDBank's customers can 
make payment to their shopping, telephone fees, mobile 
charges, air ticket fares, telecommunications fees and 
electricity bills, etc. online.

HDBank is also one of the most active banks to participate 
card alliances and to provide inter-bank payment via HDCard 
account. Using the HDCard, customers can make remittance 
to domestic accounts or overseas accounts within the 
Smartlink system with just one transaction via HDBank's 
eBanking. This service brings more utility for HDCard holder. 
Accordingly, cardholders can transfer and receive money fast 
and easily at anytime, anywhere with 24/7 transaction service, 
limit of money transfer reaches up to 500,000.000VND/day at 
preferential remittance charge at 5,500 VND/transaction 

without taking into account the differences in remittance 
charges of different domestic areas.

     In 2011, in compliance with the goal of developing payment 
services via bank, HDBank cooporated  with Vietnam Electricity 
(EVN) to successfully launch the bill payment service for EVN's 
customers via bank. Using this service, customers can pay 
their electricity bills at anytime and at any transation sites of 
HDBank. Furthermore, busy customers or enterprises can 
register automatic payment in order to automatically settle their 
monthly electricity bills.

Particularly, for coporate clients, HDBank has offered 
preferential service to pay free-of-charge pay roll via HDCard 
account. Besides, there are plenty preferential rates or free-of-
charge services applied for the employees and enterprises 
when using other banking services. Furthermore, HDBank 
simultaneously launches the traditional treasury services, e.g. 
cash collection or cash payment at site as per customers' 
requests, pay roll settlement on behalf of the enterprises, 
payment settlement for the customers' periodical bills, etc.

HDBank also focuses on the renovation of its operational 
structure and professional business location, the payment 
services for both enterprises and individuals, the development 
of young, enthusiastic, skillful banking tellers. Especially, being 
benefited from online transactions within the entire system, 
HDBank's customers can conduct any transactions at any 
branch without travelling to the administrative branch of their 
accounts.

2011 Operational Report
Domestic Payment and Treasury
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In early 2011 HDBank focused on the acceleration of operational scale, network development, and relocation of  the transaction 
place. Thanks to this, 10 more transaction points were put into operation within the 6 first months of the year, raising the total 
number of transaction points of HDBank up to 118 in 2011.

The Human Resource Division in 2011 successfully completed its duty in sufficiently providing the staffs to satisfy the need of bank 
development in professional units with the tendency towards specialization. More than 1000 employees were recruited by HDBank, 
which  increased to 47% compared to the workforce of 2010 and rounded the number of staff up to 2,163. 

2011 Operational Report
Workforce Management
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In addition, the educational level of the staff also went up compared to that of 2010: Masters: increasing to 61%; Bachelors 
increasing 45%; Diplomas: increasing 55%

STAFF'S LEVEL IN 2011 CHART
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Beside new recruitment, attraction of talented workforce, improvement of the 
workforce volume and quality, training the successors is the priority objective of 
the Human Resource Division. The program of �Professional growth with HDBank� 
has been commenced with the purpose of creating motivation for the employees 
to develop their professional skills, allocating duties in accordance with the ability 
of each staff to improve the efficiency of each individual and organization. 
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Appraisal of HR management
The completion of the implementation of Key Performance 
Indicators (KPls) to the departments, centers, and individuals in 
2011 was a base  to put the program of talent development 
into practice, providing HDBank staff with the development 
orientation.
The first time of successfully running the program of �A place 
for sales talents � reaching high in professional career� created 
positive influence, attracting sales executives from other banks 
and financial organizations in order to introduce the image of 
HDBank: Dynamic, Efficient, Friendly
Coordinating with and consulting other units to successfully 
implement and put into operation several units which had been 
upgraded and/or newly established: Department of Network 
Management and Development, Valuation Department, Risk 
Management Department, Department of Credit Management 
and Support, Customer Center of Major Corporate Customers, 
2 full-time units: Kinh Do, Lac Long Quan.
Amending and supplementing the salary regulation to establish 
a suitable  and competitive salary structure compared to other 
banks on the same level and possibly even to those in Top 15 
of Vietnam. 
Better regulation of bonuses was the driving force for the 
employees to further exert themselves in completing 2011 
targets. Actually some units were recognized and rewarded for 
fulfilling the assigned targets.
The strategy of HR management in 2011 contributed to the 
productivity of the employees. In order to positively increase 
the productivity, Heads of several units have volunteered to 
register for 2012 targets.

1. Total training courses: 252 courses with 4210 trainees, 
including:  
Ho Chi Minh City Region : 153 courses,  presenting 60.7%
Northern Region : 60 courses, presenting 23.8%
Central Region : 26 courses, presenting 10.3%
Western Region : 13 courses, presenting 5.2%

Western Region

Cental Region

Northern Region

Ho Chi Minh Region

PROPORTION OF TRAINING COURSES BY REGIONS

2. Training contents 
33 special topics on professional and supporting skills. 
For managerial level: 55 courses, presenting 21,8% 
For executives: 197 courses, presenting 78,2% 

3. Appraisal of training 
Successfully promoting and implementing the program for the 
tellers within the network (Star Teller).
Promote and coordinating with the Division of Corporate 
Customers and Division of Individual Customers to successfully 
implement the program for Customer Relation Executives 
within the network (Sales Pro).
Successfully organizing the centralized training program for the 
Tellers in 2011.
Result: 6 courses was held with total 125 tellers participating in 
frequently improved training programs for the purposes of 
thoroughly developing professional aspects and efficient 
working skills when dealing  with the customers and internal 
staff of the tellers.
Organizing online training courses online review and online 
examination. Particularly 3 courses: Credit Management and 
Support reserved for the managerial level in charge of 
accounting, E-banking and English. The online training courses 
were highly appreciated by the staff for time-saving and 
uninterrupted customer service.
Upgrading the online library uploading teaching programs, 
written policies of HDBank and of the State Bank to the training 
website.
Establishing and conducting Team Building for every units 
within the network. This program has increased the enthusiasm 
and high connection among the employees, which helped to 
improve the general efficiency and productivity of the unit.
Coordinating  in successfully organizing 2011 HDBank Quiz 
Contest.
Coordinating in building the set of questions used in banking 
professional knowledge. 
Implementing the 5S Training Program within the entire 
network. 
Successfully setting up and training two special topics which 
were Financial Statement Analysis and Corporate Credit 
Appraisal.
Coordinating with the Marketing & PR Department and all 
branches to carry out the scholarship offering to good students 
of the universities nationwide with hard conditions.
In 2012 the Human Resource Division shall pay special 
attention to the offsite training, training on job, creating 
favorable condition to develop, improving welfare policy � for 
all the employees of HDBank.
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In 2011, with the support of the international consulting group, 
HDBank implemented rebranding  strategy successfully in the 
whole system, developing the image of HDBank to become 
more active � effective - friendly with the commitment to bring 
best benefits to its shareholders, partners, customers and the 
entire community.

In order to commence its new brand strategy, HDBank held 
the internal announcement with the message of �Proud to be 
HDBank� which aims to introduce to each employee the action 
plans of brand establishment and development and the 
competitions to improve specialized knowledge and customer 
service quality.

HDBank also completed training of brand ambassadors at all 
transaction offices. Brand ambassadors are the main forces 
responsible for public relations relating to brand development 
and the expansion of the new identification of HDBank brand in 
the whole system. Accordingly, HDBank successfully 
developed and implemented new exterior and interior designs 
at every transaction offices nationwide in compliance with the 
international standards. The outstanding advantages of such 
new transactional model were the modernity, elegance, 
friendliness and comfort that it offered to the customers.

The new image of HDBank has received  positive responses 
from customers and the public. HDBank is proud of being a 
trusted brand preferred by customers so far and it will keep on 
growing with the new dynamic and friendly look.

The value of HDBank's brand is also affirmed by many 
international prestigious awards in 2011, including �Best cash 
management in Vietnam� conferred by AsiaMoney, �Excellent 
annual report� conferred by League of American 
Communications Professionals (LACP), �Outstanding 
international payment� by Citi Group, �High Straight-Through 
Rate for Payment Processing� by Wells Fargo and other local 

and international prestigious awards.

Simultaneously, HDBank is always pioneer participant in social 
charitable activities, and local and international sport-culture 
events.  In the past year, HDBank spent VND 6 billion for 
community activities to share its social responsibilities to make 
a better life. 

HDBank has constantly improved its brand's value and 
prestige so as to present a multi-functional and modern 
commercial bank with many high quality services and 
products, as well as to reposition value to the customers.              

With the strategic vision to become one of top financial groups 
in Vietnam with international network and maintain its trustful 
brandname, HDBank has been developing to fully provide the 
best financial services and products in order to meet all the 
diversified needs of customers.

To be consistent with its new development strategy and  
vision, HDBank has officially changed its name to �HCMC 
Development Joint Stock Commercial Bank� from 1st quarter 
of 2011. This event marked another milestone of HDBank, 
from business integration orientation to a new stature - new 
mission. HDBank is now ready to reach the new heights. 

2011 Operational Report
Brand Management
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With the motto “Modern banking information 
technology –  the key to success for HDBank”, 
HDBank keeps investing in the modern banking 
information technology in order to create the 
supremacy for its services, and to keep up with 
the development of local and international 
banking information technology.
         

At present, HDBank can provide most of  the good quality 
modern banking services. Especially, HDBank has been 
pioneer in launching plenty successful modern technology 
projects in order to accommodate our customers the most 
optimal and convenient services. 

HDBank, in particular, has successfully developed the 
Ebanking, SMSbanking, Mobilebanking projects, etc. with the 
optimal security  method via the advanced dual factor 
authentication system which complies with the highest security 
criteria in electronic trading, enables  our customers to conduct 
transactions anywhere at anytime.

HDBank has accomplished the launching of its local payment 
cards so-called Smart Card with full connection to all the bank 
alliances for all the related local card transactions. Plenty online 
payment services have been successfully launched, e.g. the 
online payment service, the Billing Topup via Ebanking, the 
Billing Topup via SMS, the electronic payroll, money transfer in 
tranches, interbank money transfer via bankcards�. At 
present, HDBank is connected to 100 contractors providing 
products, goods, and services with online payment via 
HDBank card accounts. Especially, HDBank has become a 

senior member of the VISA International Card Organization. 
HDBank is now undertaking to launch the EMV standard 
qualified international chip cards.

HDBank has focused on the reinforcement of  the systematic 
security protection by upgrading and installing anti-intrusion 
equipment and firewall to protect its data centers. HDBank 
takes special care in upgrading of its service quality in order to 
provide customers with convenient, fast and safe payment 
channels. HDBank frequently conducts online surveys to 
investigate the utility of its services, as a consequense, prompt 
actions can be undertaken to better satisfy the customers.

Furthermore, HDBank has installed Service Monitor tools to 
control service quality. The central administration and national-
wide network supervising system has been installed and 
upgraded in order to ensure a thorough and effective 
management of updated data of customer profiles and internal 
information. 

In order to provide the most diversified and safest services, 
HDBank applied the most advanced internal administration 
system. The bank has successfully developed most efficient 
internal administration system which helps reduce 
management fees and satisfy the requirements on safety and 
effectiveness in banking activities, e.g. credit ranking, expense 
and profit management by divisions, website administration, 
MIS internal information port, model of modern transaction 
station, etc. HDBank has built up a stable banking information 
technology and reliable skillful personnel..

HDBank has been setting up a sound basis in banking 
technology and applying the most advanced technology to the 
whole system for the purpose of becoming a versatile modern 
international bank. 

Banking Information Technology
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2011 Operational Report
Union and Community Activities

During the past year, along with concentration on 
strengthening business activities, the social activities HDBank 
were also taken care of and constantly innovated, which all has 
formed the corporate culture of HDBank: Dynamic - Effective � 
Friendly.

Caring for the staff:

HDBank has completely restructured the system in accordance 
with international standards and specialized functions for each 
division. Accordingly, the goals of business activities and sales 
targets are more consistent which helps improve the efficiency 
of each employee as well as the entire system. The dynamic 
working environment helps maximize the capacity and 
qualifications of each individual.

Newly recruited staff shall attend the orientation training course 
to get familiar with our working environment. HDBank Training 
Center frequently organizes professional skill training courses, 
soft skill courses, e.g. communication skills, team working skills 
under the instructions of experienced local and foreign 
teachers.

HDBank always maintains the best working environment for 
our staff by organizing the competition movement and setting 
up the appropriate salary and bonus policies. Besides, the staff 
shall get benefits from the preferential interest rates, housing 
loan programs, entertainment activities, etc. Full 
implementation of the regimes for workers under the labor 
agreement.

HDBank frequently organizes internal entertainment activities, 
cross-cultural performances, and sport games, e.g. the 
HDBank quiz contest, the entertainment performance, the 
HDBank National Sports Games... which bring chances of 

mutual experience sharing and strengthen the solidarity of the 
whole staff.

Community activities:

HDBank actively participates in the social community activities 
which helps enhance better living standard and form corporate 
culture. Besides, HDBank frequently coordinates with local and 
international charity organizations to support the poor, grant 
houses of gratitude, present gifts on the occasion of Tet 
holiday, grant scholarships to nation-wide students.

HDBank is also the pioneer to encourage our customers, our 
employees and the whole community to participate in social 
charity activities, e.g raising 10,000 health insurance 
certificates for the poor, supporting the flood calamity sufferers 
in the Central and the tsunami victims in Japan by donating our 
staffs' daily wages, conducting community supporting activities 
at our local transaction offices�

Being a co-organizer of the annual International Chess 
Championships, HDBank has contributed to improve the 
professional quality of the contest and the organizational 
activities in order to draw the attention of talented chess 
players and chess lovers from all over the country. HDBank 
International Chess Championship has built its own reputation 
among the local and international sport communities and 
brought Vietnamese chess players to international 
competitions..
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2012 Development
Orientation and
Operation Objectives

Customers always expect the best benefits as they 
deserve to have. Therefore, HDBank makes its 
utmost to improve the effectiveness of works, to 
understand and to best meet customers' demands. 
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2012 Development Orientation and Operation Objectives
2012 Economic Outlook 2012 Development Orientation

According to IMF, the economy of Vietnam in 
2012 is predicted to grow at the rate of 
6.8%, meanwhile the inflation rate is 
unavoidably less than 11%. Macro-economic 
stabilization and business environment will 
be facing potential obstacles due to 
complicated changes of the global economic 
situation and no signs of optimistic recovery 
in 2012. Besides, national monetary and 
financial market will remain uncertainty: the 
economic growth quality being affected by 
high threaten inflation in middle 2011. 
Hence, the Government's policies are to 
adjust macroeconomic policy toward 
building a sustainable and qualified economy 
rather than pursuing rapid growth target.

Thus, the commercial banks have to ensure 
the expected growth targets. On the other 
hand, they will be subject to the strict control 
of the State Bank. The State Bank strives to 
ensure a monetary policy satisfying 2 targets 
of macro-economic stabilization and inflation 
control. Therefore, intervening measures 

Overcoming many difficulties in 2011 and realizing challenges and obstacles in 2012, HDBank determines the main objective of 
2012 action plan including:        

Focus on implementing a comprehensive restructuring plan in a cautious, determined, sustainable, synchronous and 
comprehensive manner to exercise internal strength, and seize opportunities to achieve breakthrough in the period of 2013-2015.

must be ready to remain the stabilization of 
the banking system.

2012 is another year for economic 
restructuring. One of the priorities is the 
restructuring of the system of commercial 
banks with the motto: cautious but 
determined and comprehensive to gradually 
improve the safety, transparency and 
efficiency of the banking system. Thus, the 
system of Vietnamese Commercial Banks is 
predicted to have significant changes. The 
consolidation or merger of commercial banks 
is encouraged and supported by the 
Government and the SBV in order to make a 
strong banking system capable of serving all 
public and competing with other banks in the 
region.

1. Comprehensive restructuring: The bank's comprehensive restructuring has to be 
implemented in a comprehensive and synchronous manner in all divisions, departments, 
sections and units, concentrating on 3 main areas: sales, corporate governance and risk 
management.

2. Brand: Successfully implementing the motto: �Commitment to the best benefits of 
customers, partners, shareholders, staffs and social community�

3. Human Resources: Building an active, transparent, humanistic and professional corporate 
culture. Improving management capacity of the Executive Board, building consistent policies 
and key successors within the system from the Head Office to every transaction office and 
branch.

4. Banking technology program: Issuing 5-year technological development plan and strategy, 
ensuring the most advanced technological products with the most reasonable investment 
costs.

5. Management and operation quality:  organizing the best operation of management matrix 
which ensures the smooth and efficient coordination among professional departments from 
the Head Office to each sales unit and to every specialist at unit level.

6. Risk Management: Improving the effective performance of the internal investigation and 
supervision system, ensuring the role of risk prevention and restriction in the commercial 
banks' operation.
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To be accompanied with customers, 
HDBank keeps restless efforts in 
developing comprehensively to 
make it more suitable with changes 
of people lives and society.

Financial
Report

GENERAL INFORMATION 

REPORT OF THE BOARD OF MANAGEMENT  

AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Independent auditors' report 

Balance sheet

Income statement 

Cash flow statement 

Notes to the financial statements 



52 HDBank Annual Report 2011 53HDBank Annual Report 2011

Financial Report
General Information

THE BANK

Housing Development Bank (herein referred to as �the Bank�) is a commercial joint stock bank incorporated and registered in the 
Socialist Republic of Vietnam.

The Bank was established and operates under Decision No. 47/QD-UB issued by the People's Committee of Ho Chi Minh City on 
11 February 1989.

The Bank was established to carry out banking business including mobilising and receiving short, medium and long-term deposits 
from organisations and individuals; making short, medium and long- term loans to organisations and individuals based on the nature 
and capability of the Bank's capital resources; conducting foreign currency transactions; providing international trade finance 
services, discounting of commercial notes, bonds and valuable papers; and other banking services as allowed by the State Bank of 
Vietnam.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The members of the Board of Directors during the year ended 31 December 2011 and at the date of this report are as follows: 

Name Position    Date of Appointment     

Ms. Le Thi Bang Tam   Chairwoman   12 June 2010

Ms. Nguyen Thi Phuong Thao  Vice Chairwoman  20 July 2010

Mr. Nguyen Huu Thanh   Vice Chairman   20 July 2010

Mr. Luu Duc Khanh   Vice Chairman   20 July 2010

Ms. Do Thi Hong Dung   Member    23 July 2008

Mr. Diep Dung    Member    15 March 2010

Mr. Nguyen Huu Dang   Member    31 December 2010

Mr. Luu Van Son   Member    31 December 2010

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

The members of the Board of Supervisors during the year ended 31 December 2011 and at the date of this report are as follows:

Name     Position    Date of Appointment

Mr. Dao Duy Tuong   Chief Supervisor   31 December 2010

Ms. Nguyen Thi Phung   Member    23 July 2008

Mr. To Xuan Thanh   Member    23 July 2008

BOARD OF MANAGEMENT, CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICIER AND CHIEF ACCOUNTANT

The members of the Board of Management, Chief Financial Officier and Chief Accountant during the year ended 31 December 2011 
and at the date of this report are as follows:

Name     Position    Date of Appointment

Mr. Nguyen Huu Dang   General Director   Appointed on 22 October 2010

Ms. Nguyen Doan Duy Ai  Deputy General Director  Appointed on 15 August 2007

Mr. Le Hong Son   Deputy General Director  Appointed on 4 May 2009

Mr. Nguyen Minh Duc   Deputy General Director  Appointed on 31 July 2009

Mr. Le Thanh Tung   Deputy General Director  Appointed on 16 September 2009

Mr. Nguyen Manh Quan   Deputy General Director  Appointed on 11 November 2010

Mr. Pham Thien Long   Deputy General Director  Appointed on 5 April 2011

Mr. Dam The Thai   Deputy General Director  Resigned on 28 November 2011

Mr. Pham Van Dau   Chief Financial Officer  Appointed on 16 September 2009

Ms. Ho Dang Hoang Quyen  Chief Accountant  Appointed on 7 July 2011

LEGAL REPRESENTATIVE

The legal representative of the Bank during the year ended 31 December 2011 and at the date of this report is Mr Nguyen Huu 
Dang, General Director.

AUDITOR

The auditor of the Bank is Ernst & Young Vietnam Limited.

FI
N

A
N

C
IA

L 
R

E
P

O
R

T



54 HDBank Annual Report 2011 55HDBank Annual Report 2011

Financial Report
Report of the Board of Management

Management of Housing Development Bank (�the Bank�) presents its report and the financial statements of the Bank for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2011.

MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Management is responsible for the financial statements of each financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of 
the Bank and of the results of its operation and its cash flows for the year. In preparing those financial statements, management is 
required to:

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 

make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 

state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained 
in the financial statements; and

prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to  presume that the Bank will continue in 
business.

Management is responsible for ensuring that proper accounting records are kept which disclose, with reasonable accuracy at any 
time, the financial position of the Bank and to ensure that the accounting records comply with the registered accounting system. 
Management is also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Bank and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention 
and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Bank's management commits to comply with the above requirements in preparing the financial statements for the year ended 
31 December 2011.

STATEMENT BY MANAGEMENT 

Management does hereby state that, in its opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of the Bank as at 31 December 2011 and of the results of its operations and its cash flows for the financial year then ended 
in accordance with the Vietnamese Accounting Standards and Accounting System for Credit Institutions and comply with relevant 
regulations stipulated by the State Bank of Vietnam.

On behalf of the Board of Management: 

Mr Nguyen Huu Dang 
General Director

Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam

27 February 2012 

To: The Shareholders of Housing Development Bank 

We have audited the financial statements of Housing Development Bank (�the Bank�) as set out on pages 5 to 74, which comprise 
the balance sheet as at 31 December 2011, the income statement and the cash flow statement for the year then ended and the 
notes thereto.

The preparation and presentation of these financial statements are the responsibility of the management. Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

Basis of Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Vietnamese Standards on Auditing. These standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance to determine whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatements. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by the management, as 
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our 
opinion.

Audit Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Bank as at 31 December 2011, and of 
the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the Vietnamese Accounting Standards 
and Accounting System for Credit Institutions and comply with relevant regulations stipulated by the State Bank of Vietnam.

Ernst & Young Vietnam Limited

   

Nguyen Xuan Dai      Hoang Thi Hong Minh

Deputy General Director    Auditor in-charge

Certificate No: 0452/KTV   Certificate No: 0761/KTV

   

Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam

27 February 2012

Independent Auditors� Report
Reference: 60752693/14925363
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Income Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2011 

Financial Report
Balance Sheet
as at 31 December 2011 (continued)
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Financial Report
Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2011
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Financial Report
Note to the Financial Statements
as at and for the year ended 31 December 2011

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

Housing Development Bank (herein referred to as �the Bank�) is a commercial joint stock bank incorporated and registered in the 
Socialist Republic of Vietnam.

Establishment and Operations

The Bank is a commercial joint stock bank which was established on 11 February 1989 according to Decision 47/QD-UB and 
operates under the following Decisions:

69

No. Decision Description

Decision No. 47/QD-UB issued by the 
People's Committee of Ho Chi Minh 
City on 11 February 1989 

Decision No. 102/QD-NH5 issued by 
the SBV on 6 June 1992

Decision No. 217/QD-NH7 issued by 
the SBV on 14 October 1992

Establishment of the Bank.

The Bank was authorised to carry out banking business such as mobilising and 
receiving short, medium and long term deposits from various organisations and 
individuals; lending on a short, medium and long term basis to various 
organisations and individuals up to the nature and ability of the Bank's capital 
resources; conducting foreign currency transactions; providing international 
trade finance services, discounting of commercial notes, bonds and valuable 
papers; and providing other banking services as approved by the State Bank of 
Vietnam (�SBV�). 

The Bank was authorised to carry out foreign currency (�FC�) dealings and 
banking services in FC, including FC demand deposits, term deposits and 
current accounts from local and foreign organisations and individuals; accepting 
FC savings under the requirements stipulated by the SBV; borrowing and 
accepting FC funds from foreign organisations and individuals; offering short, 
medium and long-term loans to various organisations and individuals doing 
business in Vietnam; conducting currency dealings at exchange rates specified 
by the SBV; rendering overseas foreign exchange services; and making FC 
payments within Vietnam.     

1

2

3

Decision No. 2705/QD-NHNN issued 
by the SBV on 12 November 2010

The Bank was authorised to issue and pay for domestic debit cards, carry out 
insurance agent services.

8

Official Letter No. 74/NHNN-CNH 
issued by the SBV on 21 January 2003 

Official Letter No. 437/NHNN.HCM02 
issued by the SBV on 21 January 2003 

Decision No. 1002/QD-NHNN issued 
by the SBV on 11 May 2007

Decision No. 90/QD-NHNN issued by 
the SBV on 19 January 2010

The Bank was authorised to conduct certain foreign exchange transactions, 
including offering FC loan guarantees; issuing or acting as agent for FC valuable 
papers; discounting, rediscounting and mortgaging FC commercial notes and 
others; and doing world-standard gold business locally and overseas.   

The Bank was authorised to conduct two additional foreign exchange 
operations, including international settlements and currency dealings in the 
international markets. 

The Bank was authorised to trade gold in overseas accounts.

The Bank was authorised for securities underwriting and securities custodian (in 
which including underwriting for bonds issuing and bonds depository).

4

5

6

7

The Bank was established to carry out banking business including mobilising and receiving short, medium and long-term deposits 
from organisations and individuals; making short, medium and long-term loans to organisations and individuals based on the nature 
and capability of the Bank's capital resources; conducting foreign currency transactions; providing international trade finance 
services, discounting of commercial notes, bonds and valuable papers; and providing other banking services as allowed by the 
State Bank of Vietnam.

Charter capital

The initial charter capital of the Bank was VND 3,000 million and has been subsequently supplemented from time to time. The 
charter capital as at 31 December 2011 was VND 3,000,000 million (31 December 2010: VND 2,000,000 million).

Since the establishment date, the charter capital of the Bank has increased as follows: 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The members of the Board of Directors during the year ended 31 December 2011 and at the date of this report are as follows: 

Name Position    Date of Appointment     

Ms. Le Thi Bang Tam   Chairwoman   12 June 2010

Ms. Nguyen Thi Phuong Thao  Vice Chairwoman  20 July 2010

Mr. Nguyen Huu Thanh   Vice Chairman   20 July 2010

Mr. Luu Duc Khanh   Vice Chairman   20 July 2010

Ms. Do Thi Hong Dung   Member    23 July 2008

Mr. Diep Dung    Member    15 March 2010

Mr. Nguyen Huu Dang   Member    31 December 2010

Mr. Luu Van Son   Member    31 December 2010

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

The members of the Board of Supervisors during the year ended 31 December 2011 and at the date of this report are as follows:

Name     Position    Date of Appointment

Mr. Dao Duy Tuong   Chief Supervisor   31 December 2010

Ms. Nguyen Thi Phung   Member    23 July 2008

Mr. To Xuan Thanh   Member    23 July 2008
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Financial Report
Note to the Financial Statements
as at and for the year ended 31 December 2011

on Accounting (Series 2);

► Decision No. 234/2003/QD-BTC dated 30 December 2003 on the Issuance and Promulgation of Six Vietnamese Standards 
on Accounting (Series 3); 

► Decision No. 12/2005/QD-BTC dated 15 February 2005 on the Issuance and Promulgation of Six Vietnamese Standards on 
Accounting (Series 4); and

► Decision No. 100/2005/QD-BTC dated 28 December 2005 on the Issuance and Promulgation of Four Vietnamese Standards 
on Accounting (Series 5).

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared using accounting principles, procedures and reporting practices 
generally accepted in Vietnam. Accordingly, the accompanying balance sheet, income statement, cash flow statement and the 
accompanying notes and their utilisation are not designed for those who are not informed about Vietnam's accounting principles, 
procedures and practices and furthermore are not intended to present the financial position and results of operations and cash 
flows in accordance with accounting principles and practices generally accepted in countries other than Vietnam.

3.3 Use of estimates

The preparation of the financial statements requires the Bank's management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amount of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities. These estimates and assumptions also affect the 
income and expenses and the resultant provisions. Such estimates are necessarily based on assumptions involving varying degrees 
of subjectivity and uncertainty and actual results may differ resulting in future changes in such provision.

Going concern

Management of the Bank has assessed the Bank's ability to continue as a going concern and recognised that the Bank has 
sufficient resources to maintain its business operations in a definite future. In addition, management is not aware of any significant 
uncertainties that may affect the Bank's ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the financial statements are prepared on a 
going concern basis.

3.4 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

The accounting policies adopted by the Bank in preparation of the financial statements are consistent with those followed in the 
preparation of the Bank's annual financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 except for the change in the 
accounting policy in relation to Circular No. 210/2009/TT-BTC providing guidance for the adoption in Vietnam of the International 
Financial Reporting Standards on presentation and disclosures of financial instruments.

On 6 November 2009, the Ministry of Finance issued Circular No. 210/2009/TT-BTC providing guidance for the adoption in Vietnam 
of the International Financial Reporting Standards on presentation and disclosures of financial instruments (�Circular 210�) which is 
effective for financial years beginning on or after 01 January 2011. 

The adoption of Circular 210 results in new disclosures being added to the financial statements as shown in notes to the financial 
statements. Because Circular 210 only provides guidance for the presentation and disclosures of financial instruments, the 
concepts of financial assets, financial liabilities and other related concepts presented in Note 46 are only applied for the disclosure 
of this note. The assets, liabilities and equity of the Bank have been recognised and accounted for in accordance with the 
Vietnamese Accounting Standards and Accounting System for Credit Institutions and comply with relevant regulations stipulated by 
the State Bank of Vietnam.

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

4.1 Loans and advances to customers 

Loans and advances to customers are presented at the principal amounts outstanding at the end of financial year. 

4.2 Provision for credit losses

Loans and advances to customers are classified and provided for in accordance with the Law on Credit Institutions effective from 1 
January 2011; Decision No. 1627/2001/QD-NHNN dated 31 December 2001 by the Governor of the State Bank of Vietnam on 
lending statutory; Decision No. 127/2005/QD-NHNN dated 3 February 2005 amending and supplementing Decision No. 
1627/2001/QD-NHNN; Decision No. 493/2005/QD-NHNN dated 22 April 2005 and Decision No. 18/2007/QD-NHNN dated 25 

BOARD OF MANAGEMENT, CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICIER AND CHIEF ACCOUNTANT

The members of the Board of Management, Chief Financial Officier and Chief Accountant during the year ended 31 December 2011 
and at the date of this report are as follows:

Name     Position    Date of Appointment

Mr. Nguyen Huu Dang   General Director   Appointed on 22 October 2010

Ms. Nguyen Doan Duy Ai  Deputy General Director  Appointed on 15 August 2007

Mr. Le Hong Son   Deputy General Director  Appointed on 4 May 2009

Mr. Nguyen Minh Duc   Deputy General Director  Appointed on 31 July 2009

Mr. Le Thanh Tung   Deputy General Director  Appointed on 16 September 2009

Mr. Nguyen Manh Quan   Deputy General Director  Appointed on 11 November 2010

Mr. Pham Thien Long   Deputy General Director  Appointed on 5 April 2011

Mr. Dam The Thai   Deputy General Director  Resigned on 28 November 2011

Mr. Pham Van Dau   Chief Financial Officer  Appointed on 16 September 2009

Ms. Ho Dang Hoang Quyen  Chief Accountant  Appointed on 7 July 2011

Locations and branch networks

The Bank's Head Office is located at HD Tower, 25 bis Nguyen Thi Minh Khai Street, District 1, Ho Chi Minh City. As at 31 
December 2011, the Bank had one (1) Head Office, twenty-four (24) branches, seventy-five (75) transaction offices and twenty (20) 
savings points located in cities and provinces throughout Vietnam.

Employees

Total number of employees of the Bank as at 31 December 2011 is 2,162 persons (31 December 2010: 1,752 persons).

2. FISCAL YEAR AND ACCOUNTING CURRENCY 

2.1 Fiscal year

The Bank's fiscal year starts on 1 January and ends on 31 December.

2.2 Accounting currency

The Bank maintains its accounting records in VND.

3. ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND SYSTEM

3.1 Compliance with Vietnamese Accounting Standards and Accounting System for Credit Institutions

Management confirms that the accompanying financial statements are prepared in accordance with Vietnamese Accounting 
Standards and Accounting System for Credit Institutions.

3.2 Accounting standards and system

The financial statements of the Bank, which are expressed in Vietnam Dong (�VND�), are prepared in accordance with Decision No. 
479/2004/QD-NHNN dated 29 April 2004 issued by the Governor of the State Bank of Vietnam with effect from 1 January 2005 
and amendments of and additions to Decision No. 479/2004/QD-NHNN, Decision No. 16/2007/QD-NHNN dated 18 April 2007 by 
the Governor of the State Bank of Vietnam, and the Vietnamese Accounting Standards (�VAS�) issued by the Ministry of Finance 
including:

► Decision No. 149/2001/QD-BTC dated 31 December 2001 on the Issuance and Promulgation of Four Vietnamese Standards 
on Accounting (Series 1);

► Decision No. 165/2002/QD-BTC dated 31 December 2002 on the Issuance and Promulgation of Six Vietnamese Standards 
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April 2007 by the State Bank of Vietnam on loan classification and provision. Accordingly, loans are classified as Current, Special 
Mention, Substandard, Doubtful and Loss on the basis of payment arrears status and other qualitative factors.

Net loans and advances exposure for each borrower is calculated by subtracting from the loan balance the discounted value of 
collateral. Decision No. 493/2005/QD-NHNN and Decision No. 18/2007/QD-NHNN stipulated specific discount rates for certain 
accepted collaterals.

Specific provision is created on the net loans and advances exposure of each borrower using a fixed provision rates as follows: 

Group

1

2

3

4

5

Name

Current

Special Mention

Substandard

Doubtful

Loss

Specific provision rate

0%

5%

20%

50%

100%

According to Decision No. 493/2005/QD-NHNN, loans are classified at the end of each quarter for first three quarters and on 30 
November for the fourth quarter in the financial year.

In accordance with Decision No. 493/2005/QD-NHNN, a general provision is made for credit losses which are yet to be identified 
during the loan classification and provision process and for the credit institutions' potential financial difficulties due to deterioration in 
loan quality. As such, the Bank is required to fully create and maintain a general provision at 0.75% of total loans and advances to 
customers, guarantees, payment acceptances and non-cancelable loan commitments with specific effective date which are 
classified in groups 1 to 4.

The provisions are recorded in the income statement as an expense and will be used to write off any credit losses incurred. 
According to Decision No. 493/2005/QD-NHNN, the Bank should establish the Bad Debt Resolution Committee which approves 
the writting-off of loans classified in Group 5, or which corporate borrowers are bankrupted or liquidated, or which individual 
borrowers are deceased or missing.

4.3 Investment securities

4.3.1 Held-to-maturity securities  

Held-to-maturity investments are debt securities which are bought by the Bank with the purpose of earning interest and which the 
Bank has the intention and ability to hold to maturity. Held-to-maturity investments have fixed or determinable payments and 
maturity date. In case these securities are sold before maturity, they will be transferred to trading securities or available-for-sale 
securities.

They are initially recognised at par value at the purchase date. The accrued interest income (for debt securities with interest 
payment in arrears) and deferred interest income (for debt securities with interest payment in advance) are accounted for in a 
separate account. Discount/premium which is the difference between the cost and the amount being the par value plus (+) accrued 
interest income (for debt securities with interest payment in arrears) or minus (-) deferred interest income (for debt securities with 
interest payment in advance) is also accounted for in a separate account. 

In subsequent periods, these securities are continuously recorded at par value, and the discount/premium is amortised to the 
income statement on a straight-line basis over the remaining term of securities. The interest received in arrears is recorded on the 
following principle: the accrued interest amount incurred prior to the purchase is credited to the value of such securities and the 
accrued interest amount after the purchase is recognised into the income statement under the cumulative method. The amount of 
interest received in advance is amortised to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the remaining term of securities.

Held-to-maturity investments are subject to review for the possible of decline in their value. Provision for a decline in value of 
securities is made when carrying value is higher than market value according to Circular No. 228/2009/TT-BTC issued by the 
Ministry of Finance on 7 December 2009. In case that fair value or market prices of securities are not available or cannot be 
determined reliably, there is no provision. Provision for a decline in value is recognised in �Net gain/ (loss) from dealing of investment 
securities� of the income statement.

4.3.2 Available-for-sale securities 

Available-for-sale securities include debt and equity securities acquired by the Bank for the purpose of investment and available-for-
sale, not regularly traded but can be sold when there is a benefit. The Bank is neither the founder shareholder and strategic partner 
nor has the ability to place certain influence in establishing and making the financial and operating policies of the investees through a 
written agreement on assignment of officers to the Board of Directors/Management.

Available-for-sale equity securities are initially recognised at cost at the purchase date and continuously presented at cost in 
subsequent periods.

Available-for-sale debt securities are recognised at par value at the purchase date. The accrued interest income (for debt securities 
with interest payment in arrears) and deferred interest income (for debt securities with interest payment in advance) are accounted 
for in a separate account. Discount/premium which is the difference between the cost and the amount being the par value plus (+) 
accrued interest income (for debt securities with interest payment in arrears) or minus (-) deferred interest income (for debt securities 
with interest payment in advance) is also accounted for in a separate account.

In subsequent periods, these securities are continuously recorded at par value, and the discount/premium is amortised to the 
income statement on a straight-line basis over the remaining term of securities. The interest received in arrears is recorded on the 
following principle: the accrued interest amount incurred prior to the purchase is credited to the value of such securities and the 
accrued interest amount after the purchase is recognised into the income statement under the cumulative method. The amount of 
interest received in advance is amortised to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the remaining term of securities.

Periodically, available-for-sale investments are subject to review for the possible decline in their value. Provision for a decline in value 
of securities is made when carrying value is higher than market value according to Circular No. 228/2009/TT-BTC issued by the 
Ministry of Finance on December 2009. In case that fair value or market prices of securities are not available or cannot be 
determined reliably, there is no provision. Provision for a decline in value is recognised in �Net gain/ (loss) from dealing of investment 
securities� of the income statement.

4.4 Other long-term investments

Other long term investments represent capital contributions and investments in other entities which the Bank holds less than 20% 
voting rights and is the founder shareholder, the strategic partner, or has ability to make certain influence on preparing and making 
the financial and operating policies of the investees through a written agreement to assign of its representatives in the Board of 
Management/Board of Directors.

Other long-term investments are initially recognised at cost at the purchase date and continuously presented at cost minus the 
provision, if any.

Periodically, other long term investments are subject to review for impairment. Provision for impairment is presented in �Other 
operating expense� of the income statement.

4.5 Provision for decline in value of securities and long-term investments

Provision for decline in value of securities and long-term investments is determined and made in accordance with provisions of 
Guidance Letter No. 2601/NHNN-TCKT dated 14 April 2009 issued by the State Bank of Vietnam and Circular No. 228/2009/TT-
BTC issued by the Ministry of Finance dated 7 December 2009.

4.5.1 Provision for decline in value of securities

► Listed securities: The Bank obtains the closing prices at the balance sheet date or at the latest round if there is no trading at 
the balance sheet date. 

► Unlisted securities (trading on the over-the-counter market - OTC): 

(Ithe Bank uses the average market price of securities based on three (3) quoted prices from the large brokers whose charter capital 
is above VND 300 billion.

(ii) In case that fair value or market prices of securities are not available or cannot be determined reliably, the Bank uses its valuation 
methods to determine the fair value of securities and calculates provision for decline in value of investments. If the fair value of 
securities cannot be determined reliably using this approach, investments in unlisted shares are carried at cost.
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4.5.2 Provision for decline in value of long-term investments

 Provision for decline in value of long-term investments is made if the investees incur net loss (except for the loss is incurred 
in line with the business plan before the investment is made) in accordance with Circular No. 228/2009/TT-BTC issued by the 
Ministry of Finance. Provision is made if total actual capital contributions of all parties in the investee is higher than the owners' 
equity of the investee at its balance sheet date (using the financial information of the latest prior year).

4.6 Fixed assets

Fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation.

The cost of a fixed asset comprises its purchase price plus any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to working condition 
for its intended use. 

Expenditure for additions, improvements and renewals are capitalised while expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged 
to the income statement.

When fixed assets are sold or liquidated, their cost and accumulated depreciation are deducted from the balance sheet item and 
any gains or losses resulting from their disposal are included in to the income statement.

4.7 Depreciation and amortisation

Depreciation and amortisation of tangible fixed assets and intangible fixed assets are calculated on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful life of the assets as follows:

Buildings and structures 5 - 25 years

 Machinery and equipment  7 - 10 years

 Means of transportation  6 - 10 years

 Office equipment  3 - 10 years

 Other fixed assets  3 - 10 years

 Definite-term land use rights (*)              lease term

 Accounting software   3 - 8 years

 

(*): The land use rights of the Bank with indefinite term are not amortised, the land use rights with definite term are amortised over 
the term of use.

4.8 Recognition of income and expense

Interest income and interest expense are recognised in the income statement on an accrual basis. The recognition of accrued 
interest income is suspended when a loan is classified in Group 2 to 5 in accordance with Decision No. 493/2005/QD-NHNN and 
Decision No. 18/2007/QD-NHNN. Suspended interest income is reversed and monitored in the off-balance sheet and recognised in 
income statement upon actual receipt.

Fees and commissions are recognised when incurred. 

Dividend income on equity investment is recognised in the income statement when the Bank's right to receive the payment is 
established. For stock dividends and bonus shares, the Bank only updates the number of share without recognising dividend 
income in the income statement at nominal value.

4.9 Foreign currency transactions

The Bank maintains its accounting system and records all transactions in original currencies. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies at year-end are translated into VND using exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date (see 
list of exchange rates of applicable foreign currencies against VND as at 31 December in Note 48). Income and expenses arising in 
foreign currencies during the year are converted into VND at rates ruling at the transaction dates. Unrealised foreign exchange 
differences arising from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date are recognised in the income 
statement.

4.10 Corporate income taxes

Current tax

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid to (or recovered 
from) the taxation authorities, using tax rates and tax laws enacted at the balance sheet date.

Current income tax is charged or credited to the income statement, except when it relates to items recognised directly to equity, in 
which case the current income tax is also dealt with in equity.

Current income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right for the Bank to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when the Bank intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

The Bank's tax returns are subject to examination by the tax authorities. As the application of tax laws and regulations in Vietnam is 
susceptible to varying interpretations, amounts reported in the financial statements could be changed at a later date upon final 
determination by the tax authorities.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method on temporary differences between the tax base of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amount for financial reporting purpose at the balance sheet date. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

► Where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which at the time of the 
transaction affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carried forward unused tax credit and unused tax 
losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which deductible temporary differences, carried 
forward unused tax credit and unused tax losses can be utilised, except: 

► Where the deferred tax asset arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which at the time of the 
transaction affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. Unrecognised deferred 
income tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that 
future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax assets to be recovered.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset 
realised or the liability is settled based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted at the balance sheet date. 

Deferred tax is charged or credited to the income statement, except when it relates to items recognised directly to equity, in which 
case the deferred tax is also dealt with in the equity account.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax 
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority and the Bank 
intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

4.11 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents as referred to in the cash flow statement comprise cash, gold, jewellery, gemstones, current accounts 
with the SBV, treasury notes and other short-term valuable papers which are qualified for discount with the SBV, and balances and 
loans due from banks with an original maturity of less than three months from transaction dates and securities investments with 
maturity of less than three months from purchase date. FI

N
A

N
C

IA
L 

R
E

P
O

R
T



70 HDBank Annual Report 2011 71HDBank Annual Report 2011

Financial Report
Note to the Financial Statements
as at and for the year ended 31 December 2011

4.12 Provision for off-balance-sheet commitments

According to Decision No. 493/2005/QD-NHNN and Decision No. 18/2007/QD-NHNN issued by the SBV, credit institutions should 
make the loan classification and provision for guarantees, payment acceptances and non-cancelable loan commitments with 
specific effective date in accordance with Article 6 of Decision No. 493/2005/QĐ-NHNN (generally called �off-balance-sheet 
commitments�). Off-balance sheet commitments are classified into groups such as Current, Special Mention, Substandard, Doubtful 
and Loss based on the overdue status and other qualitative factors.   

Specific provision for off-balance-sheet commitments is calculated similarly to the provision for loans and advances to customers as 
described in Note 9. Provision expense is recorded as �Credit loss expense� in the income statement and provision balance is 
recorded as �Other liabilities� in the balance sheet. 

4.13 Other receivables

Receivables other than receivables from credit activities of the Bank are initially recorded at cost and continuously presented at cost 
in subsequent periods.

Provision for doubtful debts is set up based on the aging schedule of overdue debts or expected losses which may occur in case 
where a debt has not been due for payment but an economic organisation is bankrupted or liquidated; or individual debtor is 
missing, run away, being prosecuted, under a trial or a serving sentence or dead. Provision expense is recognised in �Operating 
expenses� of the income statement.

The Bank makes provision for doubtful debts under the guidance of Circular No. 228/2009/TT-BTC issued by the Ministry of 
Finance on 7 December 2009 as follows:

4.14 Derivative contracts

Forward currency contracts 

With respect to foreign currency forward contracts, difference between VND value of sale or purchase of foreign currency under 
forward rate and spot rate at the effective date of contract is recognised as asset item - �Interest receivables from forward 
transactions� if it is positive or liability item - �Interest payables from forward transactions� if it is negative. This difference will be 
amortised on straight-line basis during the contract term. At the balance sheet date, foreign currency forward commitments are 
revalued using the official exchange rate ruling by the SBV. Gain or loss from revaluation is recognised into �Net gain/loss from 
foreign currencies and gold trading� of the income statements.

4.15 Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and reported at the net amount in the balance sheet if, and only if, the Bank has an 
enforceable legal right to offset financial assets against financial liabilities and the Bank has intention to settle on a net basis, or the 
realisation of the assets and settlement of liabilities is made simultaneously.

4.16 Employee benefits 

4.16.1 Post employment benefits

Post employment benefits are paid to retired employees of the Bank by the Social Insurance Agency which belongs to the Ministry 
of Labor and Social Affairs. The Bank is required to contribute to these post employment benefits by paying social insurance 
premium to the Social Insurance Agency at the rate of 16.00% of an employee's basic salary on a monthly basis. The Bank has no 
further obligation to fund the post employment benefits of its employees, other than the liability to pay Social Insurance Agency on a 
monthly basis.

4.16.2 Voluntary resignation and retrenchment benefits

Voluntary resignation benefits: The Bank has the obligation, under Section 42 of the Vietnam Labor Code amended on 2 April 2002, 
to pay allowance arising from voluntarily resignation of employees, equal to one-half month's salary for each year of employment 
plus salary allowances (if any). The average monthly salary used in this calculation will be the average monthly salary of the six-
month period up to the resignation date. The total number of employment years used in this allowance calculation is the actual 
years of employment at the Bank less the years of contribution to unemployment insurance (from 1 January 2009).   

Retrenchment benefits: The Bank has the obligation, under Section 17 of the Vietnam Labor Code, to pay allowance to employees 
who are retrenched as a result of organisational restructuring or technological changes. In such case, the Bank shall pay to 
employees an allowance for loss of work equivalent to the aggregate amount of one month's salary for each year of employment, 
but no less than two months' salary. Allowance increase or reverse is recorded in the operating expenses.

While the obligations under Sections 17 and 42 are compulsory, the implementation of these Sections is subject to detailed 
guidance issued by the Ministry of Finance in implementing circulars. In accordance with Circular No. 64/1999/TT-BTC dated 7 
June 1999 and Circular No. 82/2003/TT-BTC dated 14 August 2003 by the Ministry of Finance which superseded Circular No. 
64/1999/TT-BTC, entities are required to calculate retrenchment allowance from 1% to 3% per annum on the calculation of social 
insurance payment salary of the employees which is used for. In addition, the outstanding balance of employee termination reserve 
which was previously created at 5% from the profit after tax and after appropriation of supplementary capital reserve in accordance 
with the guidance of Circular No. 64/1999/TT-BTC should be transferred to retrenchment allowance as stipulated by Circular 
82/2003/TT-BTC.

During the year, the Bank has recorded a provision for voluntary resignation and retrenchment benefits equal to 3% per annum on 
the basic salary of the employees in compliance with Circular No. 82/2003/TT-BTC.

4.16.3 Unemployment benefits

According to Circular No. 04/2009/TT-BLDTBXH guiding Decree No. 127/2008/ND-CP on unemployment insurance, from 1 
January 2009, the Bank is obliged to pay unemployment insurance at 1.00% of its salary fund used for payment of unemployment 
insurance for insurance participants and deduct 1.00% of salary of each employee to simultaneously pay to the Unemployment 
Insurance Fund.

5. CASH, GOLD, AND PRECIOUS STONES 

6. BALANCES WITH THE STATE BANK OF VIETNAM
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Balances with the State Bank of Vietnam (�SBV�) include settlement and compulsory deposits. At 31 December 2011, compulsory 
deposits in VND and settlement deposits in foreign currencies earn annual interest at rates of 1.20% p.a. and 0.05% p.a, 
respectively.

In accordance with the regulations of the SBV as at 31 December 2011, the Bank is required to maintain certain cash reserves with 
the SBV in the form of compulsory deposits as follows:

- Reserves are computed at 3% and 1% of customer deposits in VND with original maturities of less than 12 months and over 
12 months, respectively.

- Reserves are computed at 8.00% and 6.00% of customer deposits in foreign currencies with original maturities of less than 12 
months and over 12 months, respectively.

Accordingly, total required average compulsory deposits (in both VND and foreign currencies) in December 2011 were VND 
461,357 million and USD 6,819,030 respectively.

7. DUE FROM BANKS

7.1 Demand deposits in other banks

7.2 Term deposits in other banks

Interest rates of term deposits in other banks at the year-end are as follows:

8. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS

Interest rates of loans and advances to customers at the year-end are as follows:

Commercial loans include short-term, medium and long-term loans, and syndicated loans that the Bank is the lead manager, in 
VND and USD.

8.1 Analysis of loans by quality

8.2 Analysis of loans by original terms 
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8.3 Analysis of loans by type of customers and ownership

8.4 Analysis of loan portfolio by industry

9. PROVISION FOR CREDIT LOSSES

Details of provision for credit losses on the balance sheet as at 31 December are summarised as follows:

Changes in provision for credit losses during the current year are as follows:

Changes in provision for credit losses during the prior year are as follows:

The Bank adopts Article 7 of Decision No. 493/2005/QD-NHNN, Decision No. 18/2007/QD-NHNN of the SBV and its own policy to 
make the loan classification and provision. Accordingly, provision for credit losses at 31 December 2011 has been made based on 
the classification of outstanding loan balances and off-balance sheet exposures as at 30 November 2011.

FI
N

A
N

C
IA

L 
R

E
P

O
R

T



76 HDBank Annual Report 2011 77HDBank Annual Report 2011

Financial Report
Note to the Financial Statements
as at and for the year ended 31 December 2011

Details of loan classification and provision as required by Decision No. 493/2005/QD-NHNN, Decision No. 18/2007/QD-NHNN and 
the Bank's own policy as at 30 November 2011 are as follows:

(*): Balance as at 30 November 2011

10. INVESTMENT SECURITIES

10.1 Equity securities 

Movement in provision for decline in value of available-for-sale equity securities was as follows:

10.2  Held-to-maturity securities 

11. OTHER LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS
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12.2 Intangible fixed assets

Movements of intangible fixed assets during the financial year ended 31 December 2011 are as follows:

13 OTHER RECEIVABLES

13.1 Advances for acquisition of fixed assets

(*) In 2011, the Bank acquired the Abacus tower and the land plot No. 1 in Phan Ke Binh Street HCMC, and paid 75% of the contract value amounting to VND 
449,404 million. The remaining amount mainly includes the deposits to purchase houses of Incomex project (amounting to VND 78,580 million) and fixed assets in 
Ho Chi Minh City and Tien Giang Province amounting to VND 139,257 million.  
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13.2 Constructions in progress 15. OTHER ASSETS

14. ACCRUED INTEREST AND FEES RECEIVABLE

(i) Prepaid expenses included costs of tools and supplies, repairing cost of fixed assets, office renovation and leasing offices and 
leased lines, in which the prepaid expense for lease of eight floors, 25 Bis Nguyen Thi Minh Khai Tower as the Bank's Head Office 
amounting to VND 226,557 million and the prepaid expense for lease of Hoan Kiem branch office amounting to VND 16,917 million.

(ii) This represents entrusted funds into business projects of Ca Tam Viet Nam JSC and PVFC Land JSC amounting to VND 42,000 
million and VND 3,450 million, respectively.

(iii) The foreclosed assets waiting for resolution were placed as collaterals for two loans at Da Nang branch under which the 
borrower became insolvent. The Bank continue to possess ownership of these assets as at 31 December 2011.

16. PROVISION FOR IMPAIRMENT OF OTHER ASSETS

This is the provision for the overdue deposit at Agribank Leasing Company II as disclosed in Note 13. 

17. BORROWINGS FROM THE GOVERNMENT AND THE STATE BANK OF VIETNAM

(Ithese are borrowings in the open market through the SBV which are secured by the Government bonds (Note 10). These 
borrowings have the term of two (2) weeks and bear interest rate of 14.00% per annum.

(ii) These borrowings are made under the Credit Financing Project funded by Asia Development Bank through the SBV. According 
to the agreement dated 16 January 2006 and its amendments dated 24 November 2006 and 11 October 2010 signed with the 
SBV, total credit limit is VND 68,000 million. The borrowings have a term of 20 years from 6 January 2004 and bear interest rate 
which is equivalent to the average interest rate of all types of term deposits in the banking system at end of each quarter.

(iii) These borrowings were made under the Credit Financing for Small and Medium Enterprises Project - Phase II funded by Japan 
Bank of International Cooperation (JBIC) through the SBV. According to the agreement dated 1 November 2007, the Bank obtained 
these loans to support enterprises which meet the criteria of the project.
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18. DEPOSITS FROM OTHER BANKS Interest rates applicable to customer deposits at the year-end are as follows:

19. DEPOSITS AND OTHER AMOUNTS DUE TO CUSTOMERS

19.1 Analysis by products

For term savings deposits in VND and in foreign currency, in case customers withdraw before maturity, demand interest rate shall 
be applied.

19.2 Analysis by customers

20. DERIVATIVES AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS/LIABILITIES
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21. VALUABLE PAPERS ISSUED 23. OTHER PAYABLES

Certificates of deposits issued by the Bank comprise of certificates of deposits denominated in VND, FC and gold with term from 1 
month to 5 years. Interest of certificates of deposits in gold is payable at maturity or on a quarterly basis.

Interest rates applicable to valuable papers at the year-end are as follows:

No interest rate shall be applied in case customers withdraw before the maturity date of certificates of deposits in gold.

22. ACCRUED INTEREST AND FEES PAYABLE

(Icash kept under trust or for payment comprises cash and gold held on behalf of individuals, enterprises and credit institutions. In 
which, the gold held on behalf of Vietnam Tin Nghia Commercial Joint Stock Bank as at 31 December 2011 was 21,627 taels 
(equivalent to VND 910,496 million). 

(ii) This is the amount payable to Vietnam Tin Nghia Commercial Joint Stock Bank for the handling of the gold deposited as collateral 
by Vietnam Tin Nghia Commercial Joint Stock Bank at the Bank in relation to the deposit in VND of the Bank at Vietnam Tin Nghia 
Commercial Joint Stock Bank.

24. STATUTORY OBLIGATIONS
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24.1 Current corporate income tax

The Bank has the obligation to pay current corporate income tax ("CIT") at a rate of 25% of taxable profit (2010: 25%)

The tax returns filed by the Bank are subject to examination by the tax authorities. As the application of tax laws and regulations is 
susceptible to varying interpretations, the amounts reported in the financial statements could change at a later date upon final 
determination by the tax authorities.

The current tax payable is based on taxable profit for the year. The taxable profit of the Bank for the year differs from the profit as 
reported in the income statement because it excludes income or expenses that are taxable or deductible in other periods due to the 
differences between the Bank's accounting policies and the current tax policies, and it further excludes items that are not taxable or 
deductible. The Bank's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted by the balance sheet date.
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25.2 Statutory reserves

The Bank creates the following statutory reserves in compliance with the Law on Credit Institutions No.47/2010/QH12 effective 
since 1 January 2011:

Supplementary capital reserve 

Financial risk reserve

5% of profit after tax

At the discretion of shareholders at
the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders

100% chartered capital

Not applicable

CALCULATION MAXIMUM BALANCE

Other funds are created at the discretion of shareholders at the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders.

26. BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing net profit after tax for the year attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Bank by 
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. Details of basic earnings per share of the Bank follow:

Net profit attributable to the Bank's ordinary shareholders used to calculate basic earnings per share represents profit after tax, 
which does not exclude amounts used to create reserves according to the Bank's regulations and policies as presented in Note 
25.2. 

27. DIVIDENDS

On 5 October 2011, the Bank paid interim dividends amounting to VND 150,000 million (equivalent to 5% of the Bank's charter 
capital) in accordance with Resolution No. 09/2011/NQ-HDQT issued by the Board of Directors dated 16 June 2011. The dividends 
advanced will be off-set against retained earnings in accordance with the approval by the shareholders at the Annual General 
Meeting of Shareholders of the Bank in 2012.

28. INTEREST AND SIMILAR INCOME

29. INTEREST AND SIMILAR EXPENSES

30. NET FEES AND COMMISSION INCOME

31. INCOME FROM LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS
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32. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents included in the cash flow statement comprised the following amounts on the balance sheet:

35. CONTIGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS

In the normal course of business, the Bank is a party to financial instruments which are recorded as off balance sheet items. These 
financial instruments mainly comprise financial guarantees and commercial letters of credit. These instruments involve elements of 
credit risk in excess of the amounts recognised in the balance sheet. 

Credit risk for off balance sheet financial instruments is defined as the possibility of sustaining a loss because any other party to a 
financial instrument fails to perform in accordance with the terms of the contract.

Financial guarantees are conditional commitments issued by the Bank to guarantee the performance of a customer to a third party 
including guarantee for borrowings, settlement, performing contracts and bidding. The credit risk involved in issuing guarantees is 
essentially the same as that involved in extending facilities to other customers.

Commercial at sight letters of credit represent a financing transaction by the Bank to its customer where the customer is usually the 
buyer/importer of goods and the beneficiary is typically the seller/exporter. Credit risk is limited as the merchandise shipped serves 
as collateral for the transaction.

Deferred payment letters of credits represent the amounts at risk should the contract be fully drawn upon and the client defaults in 
repayment to the beneficiary. Deferred payment letters of credit that were default by clients are recognised by the Bank as granting 
of a compulsory loan with a corresponding liability representing the financial obligation of the Bank to pay the beneficiaries and to 
fulfill the guarantor obligation.

The Bank requires margin deposits to support credit-related financial instruments when it is deemed necessary. The margin deposit 
required varies from 0.00% to 100.00% of the value of a commitment granted, depending on the creditworthiness of clients as 
assessed by the Bank.

The outstanding contingent liabilities and commitments as at 31 December are as follows:

33. EMPLOYEES' INCOME

34. COLLATERALS AND MORTGAGES 36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related party transactions include all transactions undertaken with other entities to which the Bank is related. Parties are considered 
as related parties if one party is able to control over or significantly influence to the other party in making decision of financial and 
operational policies. A party is deemed to be related to the Bank if:

(a) directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, the party: 

► controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, the Bank (this includes parents and subsidiaries);

► has an interest in the Bank that gives it significant influence over the Bank;

► has joint control over the Bank;

(b) the party is a joint venture in which the Bank is a venturer;

© the party is a member of the key management personnel of the Bank or its parent Company; 

(d) the party is a close member of the family of any person referred to in (a) or (c); and 

(e) the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by, or for which significant voting power in 
such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any person referred to in (c) or (d).
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37. RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES RELATING TO FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The use of financial instruments, including receipt of deposits from customers and investments in high quality financial assets, has 
become a key activity enabling the Bank to achieve the required interest rate differences. In consideration of the aspect of risk 
management, the Bank is required to have a balance between the off-balance sheet commitments (such as guarantees and letters 
of credit) with the loans (in local currency and foreign currency) to individuals and organisations depending on different levels of 
reliability. In addition, the Bank has also invested a portion of working capital in investment securities or loans to other banks. The 
risks related to foreign exchanges and interest rate changes are managed through the use of status limit in order to restrict the 
excessive concentration while engaging in activities to balance each other to reduce the risks. By holding multiple assets which are 
financial instruments with high quality, the Bank's balance sheet structure is completely able to prevent material risks during the 
course of business and ensure the liquidity.
As for the management of credit risk, the Bank has issued credit policies and guidance of implementation to control the Bank's 
credit activities. The risk of liquidity is limited by holding a large amount of cash and cash equivalents in the form of Nostro account, 
deposits at the State Bank and other credit institutions and valuable papers. The rates of safety taking into account of risk factors 
are also used to manage liquidity risk. The Bank usually conducts assessment of interest rate difference, comparisons with 
domestic and international markets for timely adjustments. In addition, the application of internal risk management processes 
becomes more efficient by deploying the system of Centralised Capital Management and Centralised Payment, under which all 
capital transactions and payments of the Bank are made by its Head Office. That allows the Bank to monitor the transformation of 
capital more effectively and reduce possible errors as well as unnecessary complex procedures.

38. CREDIT RISK
Credit risk is the possibility of losses in the banking activities of credit institutions due to customers do not or cannot fulfill their 
obligations as committed.
The Bank controls and manages credit risk by setting up credit limits corresponding to the levels of risk that the Bank may be 
acceptable for each customer, geographical area and industry.
The Bank has established a review process of credit quality enabling early prediction of changes in financial status, repayment ability 
of borrowers on the qualitative and quantitative basis. Credit limit for each customer is established through the application of credit 
rating system, in which each customer is classified at a level of risk. The level of risk can be amended and updated regularly.

38.1 Financial assets not past due and not impaired
The Bank's financial assets which are not past due and not impaired comprised loans and advances to customers classified as 
Current loan in accordance with Decision No. 493/2005/QD-NHNN  and Decision No. 18/2007/QD-NHNN; securities, receivables 
and other financial assets  which are not past due and no provision is required in accordance with Circular No. 228/2009/TT-BTC.
The Bank believed that it can recover fully and timely these financial assets in the near future.

39. MARKET RISK

39.1 Interest risk

Foreign currency sensitivity

No analysis on foreign currency sensitivity was performed for the year ended 31 December 2011 since the Bank does not have 
sufficient data and technology.

Analysis of assets and liabilities based on the re-pricing period of effective interest rate

The re-pricing period of effective interest rate is the remaining period from the date of the financial statements to the latest re-pricing 
date of interest rate applicable to assets and liabilities which are subject to changes in interest rates.

The following assumptions and conditions are used in analysis of the re-pricing period of interest rates of the Bank's assets and 
liabilities:

► Cash, gold, jewelry, gemstones; long-term investment and other assets (including fixed assets, investment properties and 
other assets) are classified as non-interest bearing group.

► Balances with the State Bank of Vietnam which represent current accounts are classified into group which has the re-pricing 
period of up to one month.

► The term of actual re-pricing interest rate of investment and trading securities is determined based on the actual maturity term 
as at the balance sheet date of each kind of securities.

► The term of actual re-pricing interest rate of deposits with and loans to other banks;  loans to customers; borrowings from 
government and the State Bank of Vietnam; grants, entrusted funds and loans exposed to risks; deposits and borrowings from 
other banks and deposits from customers are determined as follows:

- items with fixed interest rate for the entire contractual term: The term of actual re-pricing interest rate is determined based 
on the remaining contractual term calculated from the balance sheet date.

- items with floating interest rate: The term of actual re-pricing interest rate is determined based on the next interest reset 
date subsequent to the balance sheet date.

► The term of actual re-pricing interest rate of valuable papers is determined based on the remaining maturity term of each 
valuable paper calculated from the balance sheet date;

► The term of actual re-pricing interest rate of entrusted funds and loans exposed to risks to the Bank is determined based on 
the remaining contractual term calculated from the balance sheet date; and

► Other liabilities are classified as non-bearing interest group.

The Bank holds real estate properties, movable assets, valuable papers and other assets as collaterals for these financial assets. 
The Bank has not determined adequately the fair value of these collaterals due to lack of necessary detail instructions and market 
information.
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39.3 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk which the Bank has difficulties in meeting the obligations of financial liabilities. Liquidity risk occurs when the 
Bank cannot afford to settle debt obligations at the due dates in the normal or stress conditions. To manage the liquidity risk 
exposure, the Bank has diversified the mobilisation of deposits from various sources in addition to its basic capital resources. In 
addition, the Bank has established policy for control of liquidity assets flexibly, monitor the future cash flows and daily liquidity. The 
Bank has also evaluated the estimated cash flows and the availability of current collateral assets in case of obtaining more deposits.

The maturity term of assets and liabilities represents the remaining period of assets and liabilities as calculated from the balance 
sheet date to the settlement date in accordance with contractual terms and conditions.

The following assumptions and conditions are applied in the analysis of maturity of the Bank's assets and liabilities:

 Balances with the SBV are classified as demand deposits which include compulsory deposits. The balance of compulsory 
deposits depends on the proportion and terms of the Bank's customer deposits. 

 The maturity term of investment securities is calculated based on the maturity date of each kind of securities. 

 The maturity term of placements with and loans to other banks; and loans to customers is determined on the maturity date as 
stipulated in contracts. The actual maturity term may be altered because loan contracts may be extended.

 The maturity term of long-term investments is considered as more than one year because these investments do not have 
specific maturity date. 

 The maturity term of deposits and borrowings from other banks; and customer deposits are determined based on features of 
these items or the maturity date as stipulated in contracts. Vostro account and demand deposits are transacted as required by 
customers, and therefore, being classified as current accounts. The maturity term of borrowings and term deposits is 
determined based on the maturity date in contracts. In fact, these amounts may be rotated, and therefore, they last beyond the 
original maturity date. 

 The maturity term of fixed assets is determined on the remaining useful life of assets.
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40. CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

41. ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES IN COMPLIANCE WITH CIRCULAR 210

On 6 November 2009, the Ministry of Finance issued Circular No. 210/2009/TT-BTC providing guidance for the adoption in Vietnam 
of the International Financial Reporting Standards on presentation and disclosures of financial instruments (�Circular 210�) which is 
effective for financial years beginning on or after 01 January 2011. 

The adoption of Circular 210 results in new disclosures being added to the financial statements as shown in notes to the financial 
statements. Because Circular 210 only provides guidance for the presentation and disclosures of financial instruments, the 
concepts of financial assets, financial liabilities and other related concepts presented in Note 46 are only applied for the disclosure 
of this note. The assets, liabilities and equity of the Bank have been recognised and accounted for in accordance with the 
Vietnamese Accounting Standards and Accounting System for Credit Institutions and comply with relevant regulations stipulated by 
the State Bank of Vietnam.

Financial assets 

Financial assets of the Bank within the scope of the Circular No. 210/2009/TT-BTC comprise cash, gold, precious stones, balances 
with SBV, placements with other banks, loans and advances to customers and other banks, trading and investment securities, 
receivables and other assets under monetary derivative contracts.

According to Circular No. 210/2009/TT-BTC, financial assets are classified appropriately, for the purpose of disclosure in the 
financial statements, into one of the following categories: 

Financial asset at fair value through profit or loss: 

is a financial asset that meets either of the following conditions:

a) It is classified as held for trading. A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

► It is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term;

► On initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and for which there 
is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

► It is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and effective hedging 
instrument)

b) Upon initial recognition it is designated by the Bank as at fair value through profit or loss.

Held-to-maturity investments: 

are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity that the Bank has the positive intention 
and ability to hold to maturity other than:

a) Those that the Bank upon initial recognition designates as at fair value through profit or loss;

b) Those that the entity designates as available for sale; and

c) Those that meet the definitions of loans and receivables.

Loans and receivables: 

are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market other than:

a) Those that the Bank intends to sell  immediately or in the near term, which shall be classified as held for trading, and those that 
the Bank upon initial recognition designates as at fair value through profit or loss;  

b) Those that the Bank upon initial recognition designates as available for sale; or

c) Those for which the holder may not recover substantially all of its initial investment, other than because of credit deterioration, 
which shall be classified as available for sale.

Available-for-sale assets: 

are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available for sale or are not classified as:

a) Loans and receivables;

b) Held-to-maturity investments;

c) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities of the Bank under the Circular No. 210/2009/TT-BTC consist of borrowings from the Government and the State 
Bank of Vietnam, deposits and borrowings from other banks, due to customers, grants, entrusted funds and loans exposed to 
risks, valuable papers issued by the Bank, payables and other liabilities under monetary derivative contracts.

According to Circular No. 210/2009/TT-BTC, financial liabilities are classified appropriately, for the purpose of disclosure in the 
financial statements, into one of the following categories:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

is a financial liability that meets either of the following conditions:

a) It is classified as held for trading. A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

► It is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term;

► On initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and for which there 
is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

► It is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and effective hedging 
instrument).

b) Upon initial recognition it is designated by the Bank as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities are not categorized as at fair value through profit or loss will be classified financial liabilities at amortised cost.
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42. EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

There have been no significant events occurred since the balance sheet date which would require adjustments or disclosures to be 
made in the financial statements.

43. EXCHANGE RATES OF APPLICABLE FOREIGN CURRENCIES AGAINST VND AT YEAR-END
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Branch Network

HDBank
- 1 Head Office
- 121 Branches, Transaction Offices and Savings offices
- Spreads out in 15 cities/provinces nationwide

Southern region:
1. Ho Chi Minh City: 1 Head Office; 9 Branches; 34 Transaction offices; 3 Savings offices
2. Ba Ria - Vung Tau: 1 Branch, 4 Transaction offices
3. Binh Duong: 1 Branch, 1 Transaction office, 2 Savings Offices
4. Dong Nai: 1 Branch, 3 Transaction offices
5. An Giang:1 Branch
6. Long An: 1 Transaction office
7. Can Tho: 1 Branch, 1 Transaction office, 1 Savings Office

Central Region:
8. Nghe An: 1 Branch, 3 Transaction offices
9. Da Nang: 1 Branch, 4 Transaction offices
10. Khanh Hoa: 1 Branch, 2 Transaction offices
11. Dak Lak: 1 Branch, 1 Savings Offices

Northern Region:
12. Ha Noi: 3 Branch, 22 Transaction offices, 14 Savings Offices
13. Hai Phong: 1 Branch
14. Hai Duong: 1 Branch
15. Bac Ninh: 1 Branch
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